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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND KEY DATES
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RESULTS SUMMARY
E ST

The board of directors (the “Board” or “Directors”) of Ulferts E{LEIBRBRAR ("AAR ) vEEZ
International Limited (the “Company”) presents the (FT&E& = EH,) BEAQARALHE

consolidated results of the Company and its subsidiaries KiBAR (4B "ANER ) &= 2022 &
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 3 B 31 HILEE (TAEE ) wHa%
%

==

March 2022 (the “Year”). #

o

HK$'000 For the year ended 31 March
FETT HE3H 31 HiEtEE
2022 F 2021 4
Revenue 225,457 234,504
WA
Retail 212,166 216,979
Wholesale & Special projects 13,291 17,625
MBERTEEE
Gross profit 142,637 152,891
ER
Net profit 4,142 16,826
Al
Basic earnings per share HKO0.52 cent HK2.10 cents
BREARRA AL AL
Total dividends per share HKO0.50 cent HKO0.63 cent
ik R Al Il
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EIEEmE A

RESULTS

Facing the unfavourable market conditions resulting from
the ongoing pandemic, the Group’s total revenue decreased
slightly to HK$225.5 million (2021: HK$234.5 million). Gross
profit decreased to HK$142.6 million (2021: HK$152.9 million).

Revenue from the retail segment amounted to HK$212.2
million (2021: HK$217.0 million), accounting for 94.1% (2021:
92.5%) of the Group'’s total revenue. Aggregate sales revenue
of “Ulferts” and “Ulferts Signature’ amounted to HK$136.4
million (2021: HK$151.4 million), and remained the key revenue
contributor, accounting for 64.3% (2021: 69.8%) of total retail
revenue. The sales revenue of “at e home” grew by 9.1% to
HK$44.2 million (2021: HK$40.5 million), accounting for 20.8%
(2021: 18.7%) of total retail revenue.

The Group’s net profit was HK$4.1 million (2021: HK$16.8
million) for the Year. Basic earnings per share was HK0.52
cent (2021: HK2.10 cents). The Board has recommended the
payment of a final dividend of HK0.50 cent (2021: HK0.63
cent) per share.

MARKET REVIEW

During the first half of the Year, the local pandemic situation
came somewhat under control, and the economy was on
track towards recovery. The public’s daily activities broadly
returned to normal, and local consumption sentiment revived.
However, in the second half of the Year, the fifth wave of the
pandemic in Hong Kong was severe, greatly challenging
anti-pandemic measures. Meanwhile, external concerns also
loomed over Hong Kong throughout the Year. Sino-American
contention and geopolitical issues remained unsolved, and
the volatility of the stock market remained high. In light of
the uncertain macroeconomic outlook and the surging local
unemployment rate, Hong Kong recorded a plunge in local
property transactions, while the retail market suffered from the
sluggish consumption sentiment.

ES

HEBBFEETROAMNTR  ~EE
Y 48 U A\ BSR4 & 225,500,000 7 T
(2021 4 : 234,500,000 % 7T ) » & 7
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152,900,000 T ) °

TEHIBUA A 212,200,000 #2021
£ 1 217,000,000 BT ) EAREBE B
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& %F /& 136,400,000 3 7T (2021 4 :
151,400,000 37T ) » NARFEZWAKRIR
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Tat « home, 7 §5 € %L N 9.1% &
44,200,000 #5T (2021 4 : 40,500,000
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18.7% ) °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EIEEmE 2

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a leading retailer of high quality home furniture
mainly imported from Europe. The Company has been listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
since January 2018 (the “IPO”).

The Group has been established for over 45 years, and takes
pride in providing superior quality stylish furniture in Hong
Kong. As at 31 March 2022, the Group operated 28 points-of-
sale ("POS”) in Hong Kong under “Ulferts Signature”, " Ulferts”
and “at e home”, which specialise in furniture products, as well
as “Ulfenbo’/"Dormire” and “Slumberland’, which specialise
in mattresses and bedding products.

“Ulferts” and “Ulferts Signature’ are dedicated to elevating
customers’ home living standard with style and quality, and
offers a wide variety of contemporary style furniture products
targeting middle to high-end groups. “at ¢ home” offers quality
compact furniture and home accessories to suit small living
spaces of modern families.

N T

Vo -
N L7724
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EIEEmE A

Targeting the mass market, “Ulfenbo” offers mattresses,
pillows, sofabeds, sofas and other ancillary items, which are
distributed through “Ulfenbo’/*Dormire” specialty stores,
department store counters, pop-up stores and roadshows, as
well as wholesaling to over 200 dealers. Additionally, there
are several online shopping platforms which maximise market
coverage.

In February 2022, the Group became the sole agent of
“Slumberland” and “Vono” in Hong Kong and Macau.
“Slumberland’ is a well-known British mattress brand offering
premium mattresses for households and hotels, targeting
high-end market while “Vono”, another British mattress brand,
targets the mass market. In addition to mattresses which are
distributed through wholesaling to over 100 dealers, both
brands also offer pillows and bedding products.

Retail Business
* Effective Market Segmentation

With a clear understanding of market segmentation, the
Group defines and identifies target consumer profiles in
order to develop product and marketing strategies to reach
out to their specific preferences.

“Ulferts”, the Group’s core retail label, is dedicated to
providing high quality, stylish and luxury furniture. It offers
a wide variety of contemporary style furniture products,
enabling its customers to create their ideal homes. The
Group operates “Ulferts” showrooms across Hong Kong,
targeting middle to high-mid income groups. “Ulferts
Signature’ offers high-end branded furniture products
and also luxury European tailor-made furniture. It targets
up-market customers seeking a superior lifestyle. Another
retail line, “at ¢ home”, offers quality, stylish and compact
furniture. It targets the mid-range segment and is geared
towards the needs of young couples and new families.

"ER1EE | SRR TG 0 RBEKE
5B~ FRAEIR ~ SRAEDIR A B EEm - &
ERR TEILE T BIRE FEE
BERAISE RESLEREGDHE - LU
Rt 3 T8 200 A& - o ERA
FER LB TELUERHTSZESE -
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K" Vono W8 RBRMIE - "B A B |
REBMNEZRERE  ARENBERM
BERE H¥SmMHE > M3 —EEK
BREE "TVono, RISt KR HIG - %%
REBEBEBHEEFTNDHE TE 100 REH
70 A o 2 R 8 G RS IR B A BB X PR
A& -

*  BXEIHIBHME
REBERAHDHMD 2RI T
B RELFBEEBENER K
mHl EEmAHIBHEERE - LUk e
BENRERL
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B HFOREBRE HHERE
AR - HigEEERZ - ARAR
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[& o REBZ " BEE MR RS =B M
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BRE o TEEEMESE RS
an hR R R BN R BT AR A
HEREPRERBUAZ TN
mEF o »—REELR" at « home
EPRHUEE  BE RBIORFTHE
fih o R mEEREEAR © S5
TR FERE LT AR R ERNT
e
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With over 100 years’ history, the British brand
“Slumberland’ targets up-market customers and
is committed to providing premium mattresses that
enable customers to enjoy better and healthier sleep.
“Slumberland’ products are distributed through its store
and department store counters. Besides, mattresses of
“Vono”, another British brand which targets middle income
group, are also distributed at the store or department
store counters of “Slumberland’. “Ulfenbo” products
focus on mass market consumers who demand quality but
affordable mattresses, pillows and other ancillary items
to enhance their sleep experience. “Ulfenbo” products
are distributed through “Ulfenbo”’/*Dormire” stores,
which are typically small-scale, and are designed with
a casual and relaxing environment, to highlight smart
living style. “Ulfenbo” products are also distributed at
department store counters, pop-up stores and roadshows
for enhancing the market reach.

Diverse Product Portfolio

The Group offers a wide variety of furniture products —
ranging from leather and fabric sofas, cabinets, dining
tables and chairs, through wardrobes, coffee tables and
sideboards, to beds, which are imported from European
and Asian countries. The Group currently carries more than
50 furniture brands in “Ulferts Signature” and "Ulferts”
showrooms, as well as “at ¢ home” stores, including
international brands such as himolla, Gamma, MIDJ,
Bonaldo and egoitaliano, with most of which the Group has
built long-standing relationship. “at ¢ home” particularly
offers various compact furniture products with special
features and functions to suit the local small living spaces,
as well as chic Scandinavian style home accessories.

The Group also specialises in mattress products, with
“Slumberland’ covering the high-end market and “Vono”
and “Ulfenbo” covering the mass market. “Slumberland’
mainly offers mattresses with its unique posture springing
system which enhances the comfort and support of the
body. Besides, the Group offers mattresses, pillows, sofas,
sofabeds, beds, as well as other ancillary items under its
self-owned label “Ulfenbo”. By providing different models
of mattresses and pillows in various sizes with varying
supports and features, the Group endeavours to meet
diverse customer needs.

Ulferts International Limited B{LEIFFERAR)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE R D

Comprehensive Retail Sales Channel

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 28 POS in Hong
Kong, with the number of outlets in each retail line as
follows:

2HUFEHERE

R2022%F 3 831 H  KEENEE
RE 8 EHER  STERCEER
BaF :

Number of POS
SHEZNE B

Furniture Products

RHRESR

“Ulferts Signature”
TECIE R E S

“Ulferts”
CECEE

“at e home’
Mat e home |

Mattresses and Bedding Products
PR45 K PR £ &

“Slumberland’ store and department store counters

"HTMER . ERBEEAREE

“Ulfenbo’/“Dormire” stores, department store counters and pop-up stores 13

"BCLE T ZRE 5 AEARBERREE

Total &5t

28

“Ulferts” showrooms are strategically located in either
upscale residential areas or major shopping areas,
targeting middle to high-mid income groups. With its
solid presence in these mature locations, the Group
enjoys substantial foot traffic and a high brand reputation.
The Group’s flagship store, “Ulferts Signature’, is a
3-storey store with gross floor area of approximately 21,700
square feet, in Hung Hom. It features more luxurious
lines of furniture and masterpieces with opulent designs
and sophisticated finishing and excellent craftsmanship.
Premium brands including Cornelio Cappellini, Malerba
and Crystal Stone are available at “Ulferts Signature’.
“at ¢ home” stores are generally located in shopping
malls which carries a furniture theme, and there has
been growing awareness of the brand among residents
and shoppers. Meanwhile, “Ulfenbo’/*Dormire’ stores,
department store counters, pop-up stores and roadshows
are situated in residential areas, to capitalise on the market
potential.

CELAEZ M o FRYI =15 SRBE Mt 58 7
EHEEFBEBIAREBEY O - LI
EHFHBAZTPEAER - ZFA
EYRERR  BEEREAEERE
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R RLE M@ - S mE 8% Cornelio
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Stone 1= "BXEEBEHE 1 HE -

Fat « home, [E—f&HRNFH KM
TENBYES  HnBEAN2ERE
REBEEBEBRIES - R - "TEE
B, "ZR%Z,E BEADEE -
REEMREHESHANREER - MU
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During the Year, two “at ¢ home” stores were opened in
Tseung Kwan O and Causeway Bay, and three “Ulfenbo’
stores were opened in Prince Edward, Tsuen Wan and Yau
Tong, to further expand the market coverage. Amongst
these stores, the “at ¢ home” store located at Fashion
Walk, Causeway Bay and the “Ulfenbo” store at Yau Tong
are respectively the flagship stores of “at ¢ home” and
“Ulfenbo”, occupying over 10,000 square feet and 2,000
square feet. Both flagship stores were well received by
consumers.

During the Year, the Group has been appointed as the sole
agent of “Slumberland’ and “Vono’ mattresses, pillows
and bedding accessories in Hong Kong and Macau. There
was one “Slumberland’ showroom in MegaBox, Kowloon
Bay, and four department store counters in Causeway Bay,
Sheung Wan, Jordan and Tsim Sha Tsui East.

Excellent Customers Shopping Experience

“Ulferts Signature” and “Ulferts” showrooms are spacious,
with a stylish and elegant environment, enabling the Group
to display a wide spectrum of products for customers
to touch and feel and to maximise customers’ shopping
experience. The ambience, setting and placement of
furniture within the distinctive display zones have all
been tailor-designed by a dedicated visual merchandising
team to impart harmonious, home-like comfort. The
salespersons are well-trained and offer customers advice
catering for their personal needs. In recognition of its
service excellence, “Ulferts” received the “Quality Service
Leader Seasonal Award — Furniture & Home Accessories
Category” award for the period October to December
2021, while “at e home” received the “2021 Quality Service
Retailer of the Year — Furniture & Home Accessories
Category”, in the Quality Service Programme organised by
the Hong Kong Retail Management Association.

Diversified Marketing Strategies

The Group believes that brand recognition is crucial for
driving long-term growth and success. To enhance brand
awareness, the Group conducted a range of marketing
and promotional campaigns spanning social media
engagements, print advertisements, TV coverage, outdoor
billboards and advertising on regular basis as well as
pop-up exhibitions at suitable venues. It also launched
promotional campaigns such as seasonal sale, annual sale
and stock clearance sale, as well as joint promotions with
banks and other financial institutions.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE R D
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EIEEmE AT

Wholesale Business

The Group operates a wholesale business spanning mattresses,
sofabeds and sofas under its self-owned label “Ulfenbo”,
through over 200 dealers in Hong Kong and Macau. Based
on its long establishment and quality products, the “Ulfenbo”
brand has been recognised by the “Hong Kong Top Brand
Mark” for eight consecutive years since 2014, under the
Hong Kong Top Brand Scheme organised by the Chinese
Manufacturers Association of Hong Kong and Hong Kong
Brand Development Council. In addition, the Group distributes
“Slumberland’ and “Vono” mattresses through over 100
dealers in Hong Kong.

L
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB SRR 2T

Special Projects

Complementing its retail and wholesale business, the Group
has a special projects division, which undertakes furniture-
related projects primarily for corporate customers such as
cinemas, hotels, showflats, offices, staff quarters and tertiary
institutions. The division provides services ranging from
planning and designing, through procuring custom-made
furniture to final installation for corporate customers, as well
as liaison services with furniture manufacturers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EIEEmE 2

PROSPECTS

The local economy, including the labour market, is showing
signs of improvement subsequent to the Year. There was a
recent upturn in local consumption, in particular with the rollout
of consumption vouchers amid the gradual relaxation of anti-
pandemic measures. The Group expects consumer confidence
in Hong Kong to fully recover in due course. Boosted by
the government’s housing policy and property developers’
resumption in launching new residential units, it is generally
believed that both retail and property markets will exhibit
a stable recovery. The Group therefore remains cautiously
optimistic about the future retail market.

Consumers are increasingly using online platforms to make
purchases during the pandemic. In response, the Group
continues enhancing its online sales platforms, and showcases
and promotes its furniture products on mobile apps and
by social media engagements. In the face of challenges
arising from the pandemic and external uncertainties, the
Group will promptly react to market changes and implement
prudent financial and capital management policy for enhancing
operating efficiency. Meanwhile, the Group will strengthen its
market presence by expanding the retail network, so it can fully
seize opportunities once the market revives.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EIEEmE A

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

There was no change in the capital structure during the Year.
Cash and cash equivalents of the Group was HK$76.8 million
(2021: HK$93.7 million), which were mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars. As at 31 March 2022, bank borrowings
of the Group was nil (2021: nil), hence its gearing ratio was
zero (2021: zero). The Group has available banking facilities
of approximately HK$83.1 million as at 31 March 2022. The
cash position and the available banking facilities enable the
Group to retain high flexibility and endurance to cater for future
development and market uncertainty.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s current assets and current
liabilities were approximately HK$153.7 million (2021:
HK$162.7 million) and HK$94.0 million (2021: HK$83.2 million),
respectively. Current ratio and quick ratio of the Group were
1.6 (2021: 2.0) and 1.0 (2021: 1.4), respectively.

In view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 March 2022,
the Board considered that the Group had sufficient working
capital for its operations and future development plans against
market challenges.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EIEEmE 2

Use of Proceeds

The net proceeds from the IPO in January 2018 amounting to
approximately HK$92.6 million were fully utilised during the
Year. An analysis of the utilisation of the net proceeds up to
31 March 2022 is presented below:

Fii8skIE B iE

N 2018 & 1 Az EXARBRTEIE
FFEEAY 92,600,000 BETLERAEEDH
BiF - FTRIEBREEVE 2022 4 3 A 31
B ERBERAT -

Up to Up to
31 March 2021 31 March 2022
BE 2021 F B E 2022 F
3B 31H 3B 31H
Planned **Reallocation Actual
allocation of of use use
use of net of net of net
proceeds proceeds proceeds
FSsIESE ~ FISHIESE FEREsE
RAEZBREDE FAEZEFHPE BIRR&
(HK$ million) (HKS$ million) (HK$ million)
(B&ET) (BE&ET) (B&%T)
Capital expenditure, rental deposits and overhead 34.2 39.3 39.3
expenses for opening of “at e home” retail stores
Fiz% "at « home, TEEZEARLH - HERSLKE
MEH
Strengthening the Group’s product portfolio 24.2 24.2 24.2
BICAEECEmES
Enhancing “Ulfenbo” sales channels and brand 10.3 10.3 10.3
awareness )
whoe TEMEE ) EniEERBENRENAE
Capital expenditure and rental deposits for opening 9.1 9.1 9.1
of “Ulferts” retail store
FIsk T BUEEM L SEECEAZ B NEERS
Upgrading information technology system 5.7 0.6 0.6
R BB AR
General working capital 9.1 9.1 9.1
—REEED
Total §&t 92.6 92.6 92.6

** Details of the reallocation of use of net proceeds were disclosed in
the announcement of the Company dated 28 July 2021.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s number of employees was 144
(2021: 138). Total staff costs including Director’s remuneration
and the other staff costs for the Year were HK$44.9 million
(2021: HK$45.7 million). Each employee’s remuneration was
determined in accordance with individual's responsibility,
competence and skills, experience and performance as well
as market pay levels. Staff benefits include medical and life
insurance, retirement benefits and other competitive fringe
benefits. the Company has adopted a share option scheme to
provide incentives or rewards to its staff.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES

EERSRITHABZERE

Executive Director (Chairman)

WONG CHI FAI, aged 66, an Executive Director of the
Company and Chairman of the Board. He has been involved
in the management of the Group since 1992 and is
responsible for overseeing the financial management and
advising on the business strategic planning and
development of our Group. He is the Chairman of the
Executive Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company as well as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Currently, Mr. Wong is also a
director of Emperor International Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 163) (“Emperor International”), Emperor Entertainment
Hotel Limited (Stock Code: 296) (“Emperor E Hotel”),
Emperor Watch & Jewellery Limited (Stock Code: 887)
(“Emperor W&J”) and Emperor Culture Group Limited (Stock
Code: 491) (“Emperor Culture”), all being listed members of
Emperor Group. Having over 30 years of finance and
management experience, he has diversified experiences in
different businesses ranging from wholesaling and retailing of
furniture, property investment and development, hotel and
hospitality, retailing of watch and jewellery, financial and
securities services, cinema development and operation to
entertainment production and investment, artiste
management as well as media and publication. Mr. Wong is a
Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Executive Director, General Manager and
Company Secretary

MOK FUNG LIN, IVY, aged 57, an Executive Director of the
Company and the General Manager of the Group. She joined
the Group in July 2011 and is responsible for the business
operational management and policy implementation in the
Group. Ms. Mok is the Company Secretary of the Company
and a member of the Executive Committee as well as a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Before
joining our Group, she was a director of Emperor
International and Emperor E Hotel from February 2000 to July
2011 and has accumulated over 20 years' experience in
corporate management and possesses experience in
businesses including property investment and development,
retailing, wholesaling, marketing and trading. Ms. Mok was
admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong and the United
Kingdom, and holds a Bachelor of Laws Degree awarded by
The University of Hong Kong. She also holds a Degree of
Master of Business Administration awarded by The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology.

BITES (£/E)

HEHE 0 HF 66 51 0 RAARAMITESRR
EFEGIR KB 1992 FHEBHERALE
F ASEEMBEEIRAREENES
REEFTEIRBREMAER - HASTATH
TEREEETRAFMEEGHELLEA
AETHEBRARIZES - mEERTAR
258 () BRAR (R 163)
(TRE2EE ) REREAEFRAT
(B Rt 296) (T RERETAE ) ~ 31
E2ERHREHRAT (KHMAE - 887)
(TREWBHRIKRE ) RRENLEXREE
BRAR (KO 491) ("HEXLE
X)) REZ ZERRARREER LD
RRBAT - MEEEE 30 Fo M LREEL
B NZEAXZEBERAMBLTE Y
ERERBR OE2E BRKRETE
TREBSFRE - BB RNEEUR IR
RERRKRE - BABTEDLEHRE T MRE
BFEBEREREZER =mXEREES
ST ASRES RN ARSI AR

2ERGE -

WITES MEERQENE

ERE RES7T® RARAHTES
RAEEAKE - R 2011 E£7 A&
REE BEAEEEELKLEEENBUR
Bt - EXTRAKNABDHNARME ~ #1T
ZEERELRARTDETHBARCE
EoNIMBEAREER » B 20004 2 A
E 2011 F 7 BREZERF KSR
ENEENERERD 20 F XS BRE
MR TExEEVERELBERE T
E B ZLELES BLLTEERS
EEAREERMER R EEBRER
BIEEEB T 240 - HTARFER SRR
BREENIHERELTZA -

Ulferts International Limited Ei{tEfSER/A R

Annual Report 2021/2022 4R

17



18

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES

EERESMITHAGZERE

Executive Director

FAN MAN SEUNG, VANESSA (Former name: Fan Man
Seung), aged 59, an Executive Director of the Company. She
has been involved in the management of the Group since
July 1992 and is responsible for overseeing the overall
corporate management and advising on the business
strategy of the Group. She is the Chairperson of the
Corporate Governance Committee, a member of the
Nomination Committee and the Executive Committee of the
Company as well as a director of a subsidiary of the
Company. Currently, Ms. Fan is also a director of Emperor
International, Emperor E Hotel, Emperor W&J and Emperor
Culture. Having over 33 years of corporate management
experience, she possesses diversified experience in different
businesses ranging from wholesaling and retailing of
furniture, property investment and development, hotel and
hospitality, retailing of watch and jewellery, financial and
securities services, cinema development and operation to
entertainment production and investment, artiste
management as well as media and publication. She is a
lawyer by profession in Hong Kong and a qualified
accountant, and holds a Master's Degree in Business
Administration.

Independent Non-executive Director

CHAN YEE MAN, aged 48, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in January 2018. She
is the Chairperson of the Audit Committee as well as a
member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. Ms. Chan has been practising as
a Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong and has over 29
years of experience in the accounting profession. She holds
a Bachelor of Accounting Degree awarded by The University
of Hong Kong and a Master of Corporate Finance Degree
awarded by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms. Chan
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of
The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES

EERSRITHABZERE

Independent Non-executive Director

CHIU KIN FAI, aged 48, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in January 2018. He
is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee as well as a
member of the Audit Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. Mr. Chiu is a partner of a
solicitors firm, T.H. Koo & Associates. He was admitted as a
solicitor in Hong Kong in 1998 and holds a Bachelor of Laws
Degree awarded by The University of Hong Kong.

Independent Non-executive Director

NG HOI YUE, aged 58, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in January 2018. He is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee as well as a
member of the Audit Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. Mr. Ng is currently an executive
director and deputy chief executive officer of Asian Citrus
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 73). He was previously an
independent non-executive director of Imperial Pacific
International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1076) until 11
March 2022. Mr. Ng has been practising as a Certified Public
Accountant in Hong Kong since 1989. He is a fellow member
of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in England.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ERETHRE

The Directors present this annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 66. The dividend proposed to
be paid for the Year is set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

No interim dividend was paid to the shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholders”) during the Year (2021: Nil).

The Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK0.50 cent (2021: HK0.63 cent) per share for the Year,
amounting to approximately HK$4,000,000 to the Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members on 6
September 2022 (Tuesday), subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be
held on 25 August 2022 (Thursday) (“2022 AGM”).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the Group's business, a discussion and
analysis of the Group's performance during the Year and an
analysis of the likely future development of the Group's
business are set out in the Management Discussion and
Analysis from pages 5 to 16 of this report. Description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are set out
in the Corporate Governance Report from pages 52 to 56 of
this annual report and note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

There is no important event affecting the Group that had
occurred since the end of the Year up to the date of this
report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ERETHRE

In addition, a summary of the Group's performance during
the Year using financial key performance indicators is
provided in the Five-year Financial Summary on page 144.
Discussion on the Group's environmental policies and
performance, key relationships with the Company's key
stakeholders as well as compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have significant impact on the Company
are set out in the 2021/2022 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of the Company.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of changes in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company during the Year
are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RETAINED PROFITS/ACCUMULATED LOSSES

Details of movements in the retained profits/accumulated
losses of the Group during the Year are set out on page 69 of
this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Group's reserves available for distribution to
Shareholders as at 31 March 2022, calculated in accordance
with the Companies Ordinance, amounted to HK$4,397,000
(2021: HK$5,295,000).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's listed securities.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ERETHRE

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Chairman)
Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky
(ceased directorship on 1 July 2021)
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, vy
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Chan Yee Man
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue

Biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this
report are set out from pages 17 to 19 of this annual report.
Details of Directors' remuneration are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In accordance with Articles 80(1) and (3) of the Company's
Articles of Association, Ms. Mok Fung Lin, Ivy and Ms. Chan
Yee Man shall retire by rotation at the 2022 AGM and, being
eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election thereat.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at
the 2022 AGM has an unexpired service contract with the
Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group's business were entered into or
existed during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has in force the permitted indemnity provisions
which are provided for in the Company's Articles of
Association and in the directors and officers liability
insurance maintained for the Group in respect of potential
liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that
may be brought against the Directors and the directors of the
Group respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ERETHRE

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”)) as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors adopted by the Company (“Ulferts
Securities Code”) were as follows:

(A) Long Positions interests in the Company

None of the Directors or chief executives of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company.

(B) Long Positions interests in associated corporation
of the Company

(i) Ordinary shares

EFERRETHABZESHER

R2022F 3331 B EFENARAZE
BITBRAEBRARR REMEER (Ex
REFLBEHRE ("EBHFLBERB L)
5B XV ER) &t ~ MBI S E P
BARRAREZ NGBS 352 R
TR BTk R IAE » N
REAQNTRMNZ (EFETELFRHM
SESTRD (TBUERZFTR L) RB1TTAE
RRE R FT i ms BOX BT -

(A) RAREI 2 FEHERS

BEZEEXAQBAEHTHRAERAE
AR HERDNEEZTHER
EARERIOLR °

(B) RARBMBEE 2 it

(i) &k

Number of % of issued

shares voting

Name of associated Capacity/Nature interested shares

Name of Director corporation of interests HaE#ERZ HERTE

EEME AR EE & Sin, HR4E BRHBEE REEED %

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Emperor International Beneficial Owner 10,500,000 0.29%

Vanessa HEEE EREBA

SRR

(ii) Debentures

(ii) 15z

Amount of

Name of associated debentures

Name of Director corporation Capacity/Nature of interests held
EENA HHECEE 2 B RS FiiFE#E LR
Mr. Wong Chi Fai Emperor International Interest in a controlled corporation HK$2,000,000
Ef e 7= 2 B MNRZEFER R 2,000,000 # 7T

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the
Directors nor chief executives of the Company had any
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

Br ESOREEES - 122022 3 A 31 H -
BEEFAARATRSTHRAERAAQT
NEEAHEEZE (EEREFMMER
BIZE XV 8 AR ~ BRI KA
ERHEHEAERIOLE -

Ulferts International Limited Ei{tEfSER/A R

Annual Report 2021/2022 4R

23



24

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ERETHRE

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (“Share
Option Scheme”) on 8 January 2018. Particulars of the Share
Option Scheme are set out in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements. No option was granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since
its adoption.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as set out in note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Company during the
Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as stated above, at the end of the Year and at no
time during the Year was the Company, any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or chief executives of
the Company or their spouse or children under 18 years of
age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors nor their
respective close associates was interested in any business
which was considered to compete or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group as
required to be disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”).
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OTHER PERSONS' INTERSTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

So far as is known to any Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 March 2022, the persons or corporations
(other than a Director or a chief executive of the Company)
who had, or were deemed or taken to have interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO (“DI Register”) were as follows:

Long Positions in the shares of the Company
("Shares")

Capacity/Nature of
interests

S/ HEHE

Interest in a controlled

corporation
REZHEE < ik

Albert Yeung Investments Holdings Limited

(“AY Investments Holdings”)
BEEREEREBRAR ("HBXHREZR )

First Trust Management AG
(“First Trust”) trust

IABBERZZEA

Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert
(“Dr. Albert Yeung”)

BEEEL (THEL.)

Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon
(“Ms. Semon Luk”)

FEhert (TEXL )

trust
ABBEEZRIZA
Interest of spouse
FofB s

Note:

These Shares were held by Ulferts International Group Holdings
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of AY Investments Holdings. AY
Investments Holdings was held by First Trust in trust for a private
discretionary trust which was set up by Dr. Albert Yeung. By virtue of
being the spouse of Dr. Albert Yeung, Ms. Semon Luk also had deemed
interests in the same Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Directors
or chief executives of the Company were not aware of any
person or corporation who had, or were deemed or taken to
have, any interests or short positions in any Shares or
underlying Shares as recorded in the DI Register.

Trustee of a private discretionary

Founder of a private discretionary

Hit AT Z R RNEBHZKRE

R 2022F 3 831 B BEMEFHAAQ
ARBITBRABRA REFHAAAR
BERITHABS  LTALTIEERAA
B I 7 S0 BA A 1 FR R SR R B E 1
BFRARBRES L E RIS 336 (AT
wHENELM (TERAERM ) 2EHEN
BRI

RERXB R, (TR ) 2FE

Number of
Shares % of issued
interested voting Shares
HE#DZ LE BT
Rp&E BREERS %
600,000,000 75%
600,000,000 75%
600,000,000 75%
600,000,000 75%

fa -

ZERNTABXBREZR c2ERB AR
(CEEEEZRERARTE - BXRNKREZK
A First Trust C—RABRBEFE(HABELRIIL)
FA -  ERELXTREBBEIZER  BIRRA
BRMBERKM RIS -

BrESCRFTEESN - R 2022 £ 3 A 31 H -
EFUARANARDTHRABLAHEBEM
AT SOEB R IAD S AE BRI 10 R R
R BB FEEC N ERE M
EARBIOXR °
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ESREWE

DIRECTORS' MATERIAL INTERESTS IN

TRANSACTIONS
CONTRACTS AN
TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the

,ARRANGEMENTS,
D CONNECTED

Group had the following transactions

with connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) of
the Company and certain Director(s) had interests, directly or

indirectly, in such tran

sactions:

A. Master Leasing Agreement (2020 MLA”)

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Nature:

Ulferts International

3 December 2020

(1) The Company
(2) Emperor International

From 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2024

The 2020 MLA sets out the framework
of the terms governing all existing and
future tenancy/licensing transaction(s)
(“Tenancy Transaction(s)”) regarding
leasing of certain properties (including
offices or retail shops) from Emperor
International for the each of the year
ended/ending 31 March 2022, 2023 and
2024 with aggregate right-of-use annual
cap and aggregate rental expense
annual cap being set at HK$20,000,000
and HK$6,000,000 respectively for the
financial year ended 31 March 2022
(“Aggregate Tenancy Annual Caps”).

Limited BX{LEIFRHERATR

Annual Report 2021/2022 4R

EENTS TR ANREER
5z E A

RAFER  AEEZERNAREEALT
(EERLHRA) ETTIRS > ME
TEERERERZTERNAEERE

ﬁ .

A. RHEEWE (72020 FREEW

=
HEHp: 2020 £ 12 A 3 H
THA . (1) RAT
(2) HERKE
HAPR - 2021 F 4 5 1 BHZE 2024
#F3H31H
HE 2020 FHEAH EWmEET

HEEZE 2022 F ~ 2023
FR2024F 3 531 HiE
FESFERERKHEE
ETWxE (BERAEHK
SERE) CFMBRER
REMEE BERXS(TH
ERZ 1 )MIERGAIL
BZE20224F 3 A 31 HiE
MR B RREE
EEREKERSFE LR
2 Bl A 20,000,000 3 7T
& 6,000,000 7T (" 4850
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ESEWE

Aggregate
amounts:

Connected
Relationship:

Announcement:
Circular:
Independent

Shareholders'
approval:

Pursuant to the 2020 MLA, relevant
member(s) of the Group and any
member(s) of Emperor International
may from time to time enter into any
definitive leasing agreements in
relation to any Tenancy Transaction
(“Definitive Leasing Agreement”). The
terms of each Definitive Leasing
Agreement shall be on normal
commercial terms or on terms which
are no less favorable than those
offered by independent third parties.
The terms and rental shall be subject
to arm's length negotiation and
determined based on the condition of
the properties and with reference to the
then prevailing market rents on
properties comparable in location, area
and permitted use.

The aggregate amounts paid/payable
in respect of the Tenancy Transactions
for the Year were as follows:

Right-of-use - HK$9,717,000

Rental expense : Nil

As the Company and Emperor
International were both indirectly
controlled by the respective private
discretionary trusts set up by Dr. Albert
Yeung who was the deemed substantial
shareholder of the Company, Emperor
International was deemed as connected
person of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

8 June 2021
6 July 2021

10 August 2021

g -

R 2020 F 2 & %
& AEEMEBEKEAR
HESEEEAKEAD
BREMEERS] L
FXHEEwS ("TEXA
EwE ) SEXNEEW
BZBERERE —RAEE
BRHIBRNBERBILE
= HFTIRM BRI o B
o F8 < FE AL N T b P 1
TE v W EREZEWEAR
mhksEAREBHEEMN
B HEATFTRRZY
XERTHBHESESE -

RAFE > FBEERZE
1§/ FefS iz RERmT -

{FFARE 9,717,000 5T

M RE

AR AR A B2 2 B 1Y
BAHEEL (RERKAT
REBRR) AL AHEE
FABIBEEEZES -
Ht o RE EHAEAE
14A T REBBFEERE
RNFZBBEAL -

20216 H 8 H
20217 B 6 H

2021 8 B 10 H
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B. Master Agreement on Provision of Products and

B. E{#Euﬁ:&}i&ﬁz.’%ﬁ%% (" #ai%

Services (“Master Agreement”’) =

(i) Date of agreement
heE B H Amount
(ii) Term (D/M/Y) for the Year
Scope of Products and wEEY (BB §) (HK$°000)
Name of counterparty Services provided (iii) Date of Announcement AEEZEEE
Eapal P TRME R R BRIV S AERE (FA&T)
Albert Yeung Holdings  Sales/provision of goods and services by (i) 15 May 2020 2,545

Limited the Group to AY Holdings (as agent 202058 15 H

(“AY Holdings”)
BRREXEERERAT

acting on behalf of relevant members (i)
of Emperor Group):

1 April 2020 - 31 March 2023
2020F4 A 1HE 2023437

(TBXMEXEZER ) AEEABTRELZR (FARRXE 31H
BB EARTERREN) HE,/ (i) 15 May 2020
REER AR 20205 A 15 H

(i)  Selling products and providing
furniture procurement consultancy
services

HEEMIRHEMRELZARE

(i)  Selling furniture coupons

HERMES

(iii) Providing other types of ancillary
services and any transaction of
revenue nature
RULEA AR BB RS ETTBIA
MENEMRS

Annual cap for the Year: HK$9,800,000

Connected relationship:

Emperor Group includes all companies and their respective
associates directly or indirectly controlled by various private
discretionary trusts set up by Dr. Albert Yeung from time to
time (including but not limited to Emperor International,
Emperor E Hotel, Emperor Capital Group Limited (Stock
Code: 717), Emperor W&J, Emperor Culture and their
respective subsidiaries and associates), other than the
Group. Dr. Albert Yeung, was a deemed substantial
shareholder of the Company and therefore companies
under Emperor Group were deemed connected persons of

AREFEEE ERR 1 9,800,000 #IT

FAERAR

RELFESEBIF L ARAIINS R
AR BEREESBEEEHNAE AR
FRESENEEAR (BEERRR
REEER RERETTE REJ/SE
EERAR (RO :717) RE2E
HRIRE  REEEXNEEFR BN
BRANEBAT ) MEREERI - 5
BERREARANT CEEZRE - FIE
RiELMRE 14AE - REEFEETZ
NAPARBARRBZBEEAL -

the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

BFIREEAE

Save as the "sales of goods" in the amount of HK$2,545,000 [RérE B ERFKMIEE 25(a) FTEiY" 78 m
out of HK$2,548,000 as shown in note 25(a) to the & ,2,548,000 #&pHfg 2,545,000 37T -
consolidated financial statements, none of the other related HHEEMEBNHEE 25 BB AR SZEKR L
party transactions as set out in note 25 constituted ™MHREBIE 4AKEBE TN ETEBECHERS
connected transactions or non-exempt continuing connected IR EFEBEER S ("HFEBH
transactions ("CCT") that are required to be disclosed under 5 .)° AQARBETRE EHARIIE 14A
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company had fKBELMIFEREBRRIZIEEER -
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance

with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the above

non-exempt connected transactions.

Compliance with Disclosure Requirements

Ulferts International Limited B{LEIFFERAR)
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Auditor's Letter on Non-exempt Continuing
Connected Transactions

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the
Group's non-exempt CCTs in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
"Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information" and with reference to
Practice Note 740 "Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules" (“Auditor's
Letter”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

The auditor had issued unqualified conclusions in respect of
the non-exempt CCTs disclosed by the Group in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the Auditor's
Letter had been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

Confirmation of Independent Non-Executive Directors

Pursuant to rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Company's
independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) had reviewed
the non-exempt CCTs and the Auditor's Letter and had
confirmed that these transactions had been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better (as the case may
be); and

(iii) according to the agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract which
was significant in relation to the Group's business to which
the Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/
her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

BRI BRER 5 Z X B
&

ARRZHMEEZEZREBEAA
SRz (BHEREIBRA2ER 3000
(RIEFT ) N T EEMEERNEANER
DISMVERRIER - 2R (BEFHH)
5 740 3% "BARNE R (LR Al
BRER 2B B R A 5 (7 B R
) ERAEEZEREFRRITER
BRS e

ZEANEZRB EHRAIZE 14A.56 1§ BA
SEERERARFERELS IR HER
BiEwm o AAT B M BT H S A R
2B o

BIIFMITES 2R

RIE EHARAIZE 14A.55 & - RAT 2 BT
FFRATEF (BUFATEF ) EEH
SRR R EEER D MXBA RS - Wik
BEERD

() RAEAKRBZHER—BEXBBRESTE

Ao

(i m—AREE (BIBERME ) R
T K&

(i) REREZFR D ZEBWHHET -
HRBERAFTEE  WRASKEER
A2 e

RAFESGER AT EEMEELES
ERANAREEMZERAT - WEARK
FRIRMBARMLMEFHNHEABEER
RERFEFEAER (EmBEENERE)
BHAEEXEBMEBERA RS « &8
AR °
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors shall be decided by the
Board as recommended by the Remuneration Committee
having regard to a written remuneration policy (which
ensures a clear link of business strategy and a close
alignment with the Shareholders' interest and current market
best practice). Remuneration should be paid with reference
to the Board's corporate goals and objectives, the salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Executive and Non-executive Directors,
internal equity of employment conditions across the Group
and applicability of performance-based remuneration. The
Directors' fee are paid in line with market practice. No
individual should determine his or her own remuneration.

Employee's remuneration was determined in accordance with
individual's responsibility, competence and skills, experience
and performance as well as market pay level. Remuneration
package includes, as the case may be, basic salary,
Directors' fees, housing allowances, contribution to pension
schemes, discretionary bonus relating to financial
performance of the Group and individual performance, ad
hoc rewards, share options and other competitive fringe
benefits such as medical and life insurances. Details of the
emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate revenue from sales of goods
or rendering of services attributable to the Group's five
largest customers accounted for less than 30% and
(2021:30%) of the Group's total revenue for the Year.

During the Year, the aggregate purchase attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers and the Group's largest
supplier accounted for approximately 35.6% (2021:38.4%)
and 13.0% (2021:13.5%) respectively of the Group's total
purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the
Company) had any interest in the above major suppliers of
the Group.

Ulferts International Limited B{LEIFFERAR)
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RiFa M BERERMTE 8 &9 -

FEEFRRMES

REE  AEEBAREFASRZHEER
M RERFRMAEAEBARFE 2K
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report, there
was sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company's
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire at the 2022 AGM and a resolution for
their reappointment as auditor of the Company will be
proposed thereat.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Chi Fai
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 June 2022

RHZARFIRE
REARBDABTZARERKERESA
M RHUBRFRAICKRERATH
Bl AARBRITRMDMERT EHRRIATAR
EED 25% Z RANRTFTKE -

B Em

RGN SE AR 2022 FRERBF
RELRME MEBEAAQRRRELZ

RERFNG LRZE -

REEFR

BEIE

ES
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The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance for the Company so as to ensure
"Accountability, Responsibility and Transparency" towards
Shareholders, stakeholders, investors as well as employees
of Company.

The Directors have adopted various policies to ensure
compliance with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) under Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules. During the Year, the Company had fully
complied with all the code provisions of the CG Code as set
out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

THE BOARD
Roles and Responsibilities of The Board

The Company is headed by the Board which is responsible
for the leadership, control and promotion of success of the
Group in the interests of the Shareholders by directing and
supervising its affairs and by formulating strategic directions
and monitoring the financial and management performance
of the Group.

Board Composition

As at 31 March 2022, the Board comprised six Directors
(three Executive Directors and three INEDs) who possess the
skills, experience and expertise either in the same industry
or relevant to the management of the business of the Group.
The Board considers that this composition provides a strong
independent element with a balance of power and influence
between individuals on the Board and an appropriate mix of
skill, knowledge, experience and diversity. The biographies
of the Directors are set out on pages 17 to 19 of this annual
report under the "Biographies of Directors and Senior
Executives" section.

Chairman and Chief Executives

Mr. Wong Chi Fai has been appointed as the Chairman of the
Board who provides leadership for the Board. With the
support of the company secretary of the Company
(“Company Secretary”), he ensures that all Directors receive,
in a timely manner, adequate information and are properly
briefed on issues arising at the Board meetings. He is
responsible for ensuring that the Board works effectively and
performs its responsibilities. He holds meetings without the
presence of Executive Directors with INEDs at least once a
year.

Ulferts International Limited B{LEIFFERAR)
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During the Year, Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky ceased to be
Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group. The Executive Directors (in particular Ms. Mok Fung
Lin, lvy, who is also the General Manager of the Company)
and management team are responsible for the Group's day-
to-day operation and business management.

The Board considers that such segregation of duties make
the Board and the operation of the Group function effectively.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The INEDs are all professionals with recognized experience
and expertise in legal, accounting or auditing who contribute
impartial view and make independent judgment on issues to
be discussed at Board meetings. The terms of the INEDs are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election provision
under the Articles of Association of the Company and Listing
Rules.

The Company had received confirmation of independence
from each of the INEDs. Based on the annual review
conducted by the Nomination Committee, the Board
considered each of them to be independent with reference to
the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
INEDs had been expressly identified as such in all corporate
communications of the Company that disclose the names of
Directors.

RAFER  REBREEBRETATEREN
AEFZITHRBE - ATER (LERR
BELL  BHARARARRKHE) REE
ERaEArEBcAEEELEBEE -

EFERR KNI HEEFELAEE
e A ROEE -

BIAFRITES
BIFRATEFHRNIER « SetNEF
A,Ei%%ﬁ)f/zw KEBEABZEEA

R EREEE LA Z%H?ﬂ
’AE&EEH:'&{’EHM%L# i - B IFERAT
FNEMRAATABERMA &J:FE%E
AIE T HmERELAEEETGRIHMR
fR °
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Delegation to the Management

The management is led by the Executive Committee of the
Company (which comprises all the Executive Directors of the
Board) and has been delegated powers and authorities of
the Board to carry out the day-to-day management and
operation of the Group, formulate business policies and
make decision on key business issues except the following
major reserved matters as set out in a "Formal Schedule on
matters specifically reserved for and delegated by the
Board":

e determining the Group's objectives and strategies;

e approving annual and interim results and financial
reporting;

e declaring or recommending payment of dividends or
other distributions;

e approving major changes that require notification by
announcement under the Listing Rules;

e approving publication of the announcement for notifiable
transactions (except for discloseable transactions in
relation to lease transactions recognizing the right-of-use
asset by the Company as lessee according to HKFRS 16
‘Lease”) under the Listing Rules;

e approving non-exempted connected transactions; and

e approving major capital re-structuring and issue of new
securities of the Company.

Ulferts International Limited B{LEIFFERAR)
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Induction, Support and Professional Development of
Directors

All Directors have been given relevant guideline materials
regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a Director,
the relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Directors,
duty of disclosure of equity and business interest in the
Group and such induction materials will also be provided to
newly appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as
Directors. All Directors have been updated on the latest
developments of the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirement to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
There is a procedure agreed by the Board to enable
Directors, upon reasonable request, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company's expenses in order to assist them to perform their
duties to the Company.

The Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code on Directors' training.
During the Year, each Director had participated in continuous
professional development by attending e-seminars/reading
materials on the following topics to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills and provided a record of training to the
Company:

Name of Directors

EEZHE  XBEREXHERE

FIEEEHEERHERECTESZRE
NEE - BRARESRZEEIEG MR
RAEBECEBENEBREARBCEEZ
HEAIESIER - MR EESERER
TEREHAREREXFREESAA
Ef - 2REFTER MR LEME
REEERCBRESRNER WMk
REB > FFINANSHREERELSE
MeBH - EFGERERF  REFH
EEEBR TITRKABERRSBIIFEHX
BERUBBRERAATATHE - BF
AR RAE

EEER  NFEETEXERTARE
BEFHEIZ TGRS CA4 1K -RAF
B REFVESHEFEEIXRE BB
HEBBEU T EECEH®E FEML
DR EBRREABEZEE > LER
RN ERMIEI R -

Topics of training covered

AP E R E

Mr. Wong Chi Fai En e
Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky REREE
(ceased directorship on 1 July 2021) (FR2021FE7H1H
BEEESBE)
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, vy EREL T
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa SRRt
Ms. Chan Yee Man BraZEu+
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai BiEELEL
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue RBTRE

Relationship between the Board Members

None of the members of the Board has any relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relations) among each other.

Directors' insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of any legal action against the Directors.

(1) corporate governance (¥4

(2)

regulatory E5%&

finance B7#%

3)

(4) industry specific 1724883

ESENERZEAR

EXeRECEBRETABER (BEM
B EB RBRHMEKR HEREE) -

EEZRME

AARCHEEVEGEY 2 EMERF
AMEH B 2 BRI -

Ulferts International Limited Ei{tEfSER/A R

Annual Report 2021/2022 4R



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

Directors' Attendance and Time Commitment EFHESTHRBRIREFR—BEA
The attendance of Directors at the meetings during the Year KEFVRAFTEHESZ BRI YU
is set out below: T

No. of meetings attended/held

LRER BTEEAR

Corporate
Audit Remuneration  Nomination  Governance Executive 2021 AGM

Name of Directors Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee 2021 FREBFE
EEHA EEE ERREE HMEEE 2 REREE LEERREE  WTRES =
Executive Directors
HTEE
Mr. Wong Chi Fai (e 5/5 - 11 - - 5/5 1
ERELE ()
Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky 22 - - - - 22 -

(ceased directorship on 1 July 2021)
SR -

(R2021E7 5 1 HEEEZRE)
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, vy 5/5 - - - - 5/5 il
REENT
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa 2 5/5 - - il il 515 il

e O

Independent Non-Executive Directors

BUFHTEE
Ms. Chan Yee Man (e 5/5 33 11 1 - - 1
BRaEg L e
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai (te 4 515 33 - 11 11 - 11
RiEELE e
Mr. Ng Hoi Yug o) 5/5 33 11 - 11 - 11
ST oA )
Total number of meetings held: 5 3 1 1 1 5 1
Bregziey:

Notes: FEE - -

1. Chairman of the Executive Committee 1. WTEESEE

2. Chairperson of the Corporate Governance Committee 2. EXEAREEGIE

3. Chairperson of the Audit Committee 3. BERE Ail‘%

4. Chairman of the Nomination Committee 4 ?‘E%%Ei%

5. Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 5 FMNEESTR

=

During the Year, the Chairman held a meeting with INEDs RAFEE @ REFELEEATRIZTRIMEX
without the presence of Executive Directors in compliance 28 C.2.7 & > FEEHEBIUIIFERNITESAE

with code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code. RARTESERERB R -
The Board had reviewed the contribution required from each ZEFRERNSESEETAAABER
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company FifEER @ BEMAREAFER » 2LEF

and was satisfied that each Director had been spending HEMNEEHNSEBRITRSFECBE °
sufficient time in performing his/her responsibilities during
the Year.
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Board Meetings and Proceedings

Regular Board meetings were held at approximately quarterly
intervals. The Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary and key officers of the
company secretarial team for ensuring that the Board
procedures, all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

With the assistance of the Company Secretary, the meeting
agenda is set by the Chairman of the Board in consultation
with other Board members. Board meeting notice was sent to
the Directors at least 14 days prior to each regular Board
meeting. For all other board meetings, reasonable notice was
given. Board papers and related materials which provide
appropriate, accurate, clear, complete and reliable
information are generally sent to all Directors and relevant
committee members at least 3 days before each Board
meeting and Board committee meeting (or other agreed
period) to enable the Directors to make informed decisions.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings
are drafted by the secretary of the meetings and recorded in
sufficient details the matters considered and decisions
reached, with draft and final versions being circulated to the
Directors for their comment and records respectively, within
reasonable time after the meetings are held. Originals of
such minutes, being kept by the Company Secretary, are
open for inspection at any reasonable time with reasonable
notice by any Director.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board which the Board has determined to
be material, the matter will be dealt with by a physical Board
meeting rather than a written resolution. That Director will
abstain from voting on the relevant Board resolution in which
he/she or any of his/her associates has a material interest
and he/she shall not be counted in the quorum present at the
Board meeting. INEDs, who, and whose close associates,
have no material interest in the transaction are present at
that Board meeting.

Board Committees

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate
effective management, certain functions of the Board have
been delegated by the Board to the Executive Committee,
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee.

All members of the Audit Committee and majority members of
the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are
INEDs. Clear written terms of reference of all the Board
Committees are given to the respective members of these
Committees. Details of the Board Committees are set out
below:

EXEERRER
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Executive Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Executive Committee consists of all the Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Chairman of the
Committee), Ms. Mok Fung Lin, lvy, Ms. Fan Man Seung,
Vanessa and Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky (ceased as
member of the Committee on 1 July 2021).

The primary duties of the Executive Committee are (a)
formulating business policies and making decision
(including entering into transactions) on matters relating
to the management and day-to-day operations of the
Group; (b) making and reviewing corporate/financial/
treasury planning, investment and operation strategy of
the Group; (c) discussing and approving any financial,
borrowing, charging and guarantee commitment to be
made by or on behalf of the Group; (d) approving
transactions, including discloseable transactions,
exempted connected transactions and non-exempted
continuing connected transactions took place from time
to time under the master agreement(s) previously
approved by the Board/Shareholders (as the case may
be) under the Listing Rules; (e) approving any
publication of relevant announcement for discloseable
transaction in relation to lease transaction recognizing
the right-of-use asset by the Company as lessee
according to HKFRS 16 "Leases"; and (f) having all
power and authorities of the Board except those matters
specifically reserved for the full Board as set out in the
"Formal Schedule on matters reserved for and delegated
by the Board" adopted by the Board from time to time.

Audit Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, namely
Ms. Chan Yee Man (Chairperson of the Committee), Mr.
Chiu Kin Fai and Mr. Ng Hoi Yue.

The specific written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The Audit Committee is
primarily responsible for (a) making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of the external auditor; (b) reviewing and
monitoring the external auditor's independence and
objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process; (c)
approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of
external auditor; and (d) reviewing financial information
and overseeing the financial reporting, risk management
and internal control systems.
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A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee
during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed with the management/finance personnel
and/or the external auditor the effectiveness of audit
process and the accounting polices and principles
adopted by the Group, the accuracy and fairness of
the annual consolidated financial statements for the
financial year ended 31 March 2021 (“Previous
Year”) and the interim consolidated financial
statements for the six months ended 30 September
2021;

i. reviewed with the senior management and finance
personnel the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group during the
Previous Year;

ii. performed annual review of the non-exempted
continuing connected transactions of the Group for
the Previous Year;

iv. recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of
external auditor at the 2021 annual general meeting
("2021 AGM”); and

v. approved the audit plan for the Year, reviewed the
independence of external auditor and approved its
engagement.

Remuneration Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Ng Hoi Yue (Chairman of the Committee), Ms.
Chan Yee Man, both being INEDs, and Mr. Wong Chi Fai,
an Executive Director.

The specific written terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee is available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company. The
Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible for
making recommendation to the Board on (a) the
Company's policy and structure for all remuneration of
Directors and senior management; (b) the remuneration
of INEDs; and (c) the specific remuneration packages for
individual Executive Directors and senior management.
Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for
the Year are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the Directors' fees and made recommendation
to the Board; and

ii. reviewed the remuneration structure/package of the
Executive Directors and senior management and
recommended the Board to approve their specific
packages.

Nomination Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Chiu Kin Fai (Chairman of the Committee)
and Ms. Chan Yee Man, both being INEDs and Ms. Fan
Man Seung, Vanessa, an Executive Director.

The specific written terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are (a) reviewing the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board; (b)
reviewing the Board Diversity Policy; (c) reviewing the
Nomination Policy and identifying potential candidates
for directorship; (d) assessing the independence of
INEDs; (e) reviewing the time commitment of each
Director in performing his/her responsibilities; and (f)
making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment, re-election or re-
designation of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board;

i. reviewed the independence of the INEDs;
iii. reviewed the confirmation from the Directors on time
commitment in performing their duties as Directors;

and

iv. made recommendation to the Board on the re-
election of Directors at the 2021 AGM.
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Board Diversity Policy

As adopted by the Board, the Board Diversity Policy
aims to achieve diversity on the Board in the broadest
sense in order to have a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives to the business nature of
the Company. Selection of candidates on the Board is
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Nomination Committee will
also assess the merits and contribution of any Director
proposed for re-election or any candidate nominated to
be appointed as Director that will bring to the Board
against the objective criteria, with due regard for the
benefits of diversity of the Board that would complement
the Company's corporate strategy.

Nomination Policy

The Company had adopted a written Nomination Policy
of the Group which aims at assisting the Nomination
Committee in identifying and nominating suitable
candidates for directorship based on the Board Diversity
Policy and sets out the nomination criteria and the
nomination procedures for (i) nominating new Director to
fill a casual vacancy on the Board; (ii) making
recommendation to Shareholders regarding any Director
proposed for election or re-election at general meeting;
and (iii) nomination by Shareholders on election of new
Director.

Corporate Governance Committee (set up on 8
January 2018)

The Corporate Governance Committee (“CG Committee”)
consists of five members, namely Ms. Fan Man Seung,
Vanessa (Chairperson of the Committee), being the
Executive Director, Mr. Chiu Kin Fai and Mr. Ng Hoi Yue,
both being INEDs, a representative from company
secretarial function and a representative from finance
and accounts function.

The specific written terms of reference of the CG
Committee is available on the website of the Company.
The primary duties of the CG Committee are (a)
reviewing the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Company (“CG Policy”) and making
recommendations to the Board; (b) reviewing and
monitoring the policies and practices of the Company on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements of the
Company; (c) developing, reviewing and monitoring the
codes of conduct applicable to Directors and relevant
employees of the Group on dealings with the Company's
securities; (d) reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management; and (e) reviewing the Company's
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
report.
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A summary of the work performed by the CG Committee
during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the CG Policy and made recommendation
to the Board;

ii. reviewed the policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

iii. reviewed the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

iv. reviewed the said codes of conduct applicable to
Directors and relevant employees of the Group; and

v. reviewed the Company's compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in Corporate Governance
Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary whose appointment was approved
by the Board, plays an important role in supporting the Board
for ensuring good information flow within the Board and that
the Board policy and procedures are followed. She is
responsible for advising the Board on general duties and
obligations of Directors and good corporate governance
issues, and has facilitated induction and professional
development of the Directors. She has day-to-day knowledge
of the Company's affairs. During the Year, the Company
Secretary had duly complied with the relevant professional
training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SECURITIES TRANSACTION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Ulferts Securities Code as its
own code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standards for securities dealings as set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules regarding Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers. Having made
specific enquiry to Directors, all of them confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard of dealings as set
out in Ulferts Securities Code throughout the Year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities to prepare
the annual consolidated financial statements of the Group and
other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules.
The management has provided all members of the Board with
monthly updates on internal consolidated financial statements
which give a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group's performance, position and prospects as at the reporting
date.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
Year, the Board adopted appropriate accounting policies and
applied them consistently, made judgment and estimates that
were prudent and reasonable and ensured the consolidated
financial statements were prepared on a “going concern” basis
(with supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary)
and showed a true view of the state of affairs of the Group for
the Year. The management had provided sufficient explanation
and information to the Board on the consolidated financial
statements to enable it to make an informed assessment of
the financial and other information put before it for approval.
The auditor of the Company had made a statement about their
reporting responsibilities in the Independent Auditor's Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

A. Goals and objectives

Internal control is fundamental to the successful operation
and day-to-day running of a business and it assists a
company in achieving its business objectives. Internal
control policies and procedures within the Group are
updated regularly with the primary objective of providing
general guidance and recommendations on a basic
framework of risk management and internal control systems
(“Control Systems”).

A review has been conducted on (i) internal control
measures and procedures covering all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls,
and (ii) risk management functions in its principal
subsidiaries for the Year as follows:

The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective
Control Systems. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate risks of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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The key objectives of the Control Systems include:

— safeguarding assets

— ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of
financial records and reports

— promoting adherence to policies, procedures,
regulations and laws

— promoting effectiveness and efficiency of operations

B. Internal Control
I. Governance Control

The control structure of the Control Systems is set out
as follows:

The Board

e responsible for the Control Systems and reviewing
their effectiveness

e oversee the Control Systems on an ongoing basis
with the assistance of Audit Committee

e ensure maintenance of appropriate and effective
Control Systems

e define management structure with clear lines of
responsibility and limit of authority

e determine the nature and extent of significant
risk (including the environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) risks) that the Company is
willing to take in achieving the strategic objectives
and formulate the Group’s risk management
strategies

Audit Committee

e review and discuss the Control Systems with
the management annually to ensure that the
management has performed its duty to have
effective Control Systems. This discussion includes
the adequacy of resources, staff qualification and
experience, internal audit and financial reporting
function as well as those relating to the Company’s
ESG performance and reporting function

e review the nature and extent of significant risks,
and the Company'’s ability to respond to changes
in its business and the external environment

e review and discuss annually the significant control
failings or weaknesses that are identified by the
auditor
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e consider major findings on internal control matters
(if any) raised by internal or external auditor and
make recommendations to the Board

Executive Committee

e review the effectiveness of ESG-related risk
management and internal control systems and
report to the Audit Committee for its review

The management (includes heads of business units,
departments and divisions)

e design and implement the internal control and
risk management policy and procedures duly
endorsed by senior management and the Board

e monitor the control systems properly and ensure
they are executed effectively

e monitor risks and take measures to mitigate risks
in their day-to-day operations

e give prompt responses to, and follow up the
findings (if any) on internal control matters raised
by internal or external auditor

e provide confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of the Control Systems

e prepare organization charts to show the reporting
relationships within the operation and management
to establish lines of responsibility

Internal Audit Department

e carry out the analysis on sample basis and
independent appraisal of adequacy and
effectiveness of the Control Systems in respect
of all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance aspects

e alert the management on the audit review
findings or irregularities and advise them on the
implementation of necessary steps and actions to
enhance the internal controls of the Group

e report the results of internal audit reviews and
agreed action plans to the Audit Committee and
the Board on regular basis.
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2. Operational Controls 2. EEER

During the Year, the management had analyzed the

REAFER EBEEHEZRR
control environment identified risks pertaining thereto, ,

15 R E A B B 3Bl B (F 2 A
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and implemented various controls therein as follows:

Approach taken: The management conducts
interviews with relevant staff, reviews relevant
documentation of the Control Systems and
evaluates findings of any deficiencies in the
design of the Group’s Control Systems, provides
recommendations for improvement and assesses
the effectiveness of implementation of such
recommendations, where appropriate. The scope
and findings of review on the Control Systems
will be reported to and reviewed by the Audit
Committee annually.

Procedure manuals and operational guidelines:
To safeguard the assets against unauthorized use
or disposition and ensure maintenance of proper
accounting records that are in compliance with
the applicable laws, rules and regulations for the
provision of reliable financial that are information
for internal use and/or external publication.

Management information system and
technology: To control over the business activities
allows close tracking of various inputs and outputs
of the Group’s business such as inventory,
products, customer information system and
human resources. It also tracks audit trails in the
authorization system under which permissions and
responsibility of authorization are clearly identified
and adequate records can be maintained in the
system.
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iv. Reports and variance analysis: Reports and iv. MEREZEBRS: THYHER
analysis of each segment are conducted on LT BERE MO
regular basis such that the performance of each WA SN THERIEEETR
point of sales and each product category can be iRz R -
easily accessible.

v. Information flow: The transparent information v. EER ZEBEMEEREE

flow alerts the management promptly of any
deviations. Benchmarking with historical database
and comparisons with the same also acts as a
detecting device for spotting unusual activities.
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vi. Safeguarding of assets: A number of general

Vil.

insurance policies are maintained including
general accident insurance on the asset in office,
warehouse, retail stores against robbery, burglary,
fire and flooding. Insurance for unexpected
operational risks and marine insurance for
cargo shipment from suppliers or manufacturers
which are not on CIF terms are also maintained.
Stocktake is conducted at least once a year and
cycle counts may be prescribed by operation
head. Daily cash count at retail shops and
reconciliation is concluded.

Quality control: starting from procurement stage
in selection of furniture suppliers and product
offering:

» For “Ulfenbo” products and products for
special projects, suppliers and manufacturers
are required to produce evidence of
compliance such as test reports, raw material
suppliers’ certificates and documents on
electrical parts.

» Before placing purchase orders with any new
furniture suppliers, the procurement team will
assess their workmanship and product quality
as well as their reputation in the industry.

» For products of new design which are usually
first released in the international furniture
exhibitions and fairs, the procurement team
will inspect the products for workmanship
and safety or quality issue. Regular meetings
are held between the procurement team and
the inspection and repair team to exchange,
discuss and resolve any quality issue with the
products. We also engage independent third
parties from time to time to inspect products
manufactured in the PRC.

» For custom-made furniture, the project team
conducts pre-shipment inspection at the
factory of our outsourced manufacturers
by checking of random samples of the
finished products on workmanship and
other specifications such as size, labelling
and packaging to verify that the finished
lots conform to such specifications before
delivery.

Vi.

Vil.

RELSE:  BEZE KR
B BREABRAT  BER
%%Fﬁﬁ&ﬁz A% = A6
B - LIBHARTE ~ /5~ KK
Bk e %%%%ﬁfﬁﬂ
Ry E B B I R e K 5E i
HERMREEREECEY
T8 (MWL FHER) &
Bk BFEEDET—
BE WEBAHRE Lzﬁﬂ
Eﬂ%ﬁ% BHNREEE
SEEIRSWEITHIR -

mBEE L LB RAME
7 % 7 o L E A R B B R PR
WA
> mTEtE EREIRE
EEEmMME @ HER
&Eﬁﬁﬁhhmﬁ%
 BILTRIER 3RS ~ B—AT
Mﬁ%&%%%?%#
&l

> AEAFRAEERT
ﬁﬁﬁJﬁm’%%E
S EEBRHRERZ
I%—_—ﬁ EREERHER
FrmEE .

> HRBEBRRBERBEER
MhEHEERENHEZE
Fm’%%.%?&J
EnlB2RZ2NEE
I8 o £% I E B E B
BREHEEKREITE
ZONEMNEAEESE
MEXKRER - smik
fRRFIRE o FATIRA B
%%Ev%_ﬁﬁﬁ¢
B RS E S E
A o

> FIREMSE TiEE
%T’?Hﬂi}’%?ﬁlﬁfﬁ?ﬂ
ETEERIRA - BB
&E*%TEE@RM@&DDZI
SLEMBRK (R
~ F%&@%).&ﬁ
BERERRRENE
RHEBBERE -

Ulferts International Limited Ei{tEfSER/A R
Annual Report 2021/2022 &k

47



48

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
DEEARE

When the cargo of our products are shipped
to Hong Kong, the logistics team will check
the quantity, shipping mark and package
condition of the products upon their delivery
to our warehouse. If the Company discovers
there is any damage to the container, our
logistics team will inform insurance broker
and see if surveyors need to attend the
devanning of the container. When devanning,
the logistics team will examine the package
condition to look for defect. For products
of new model or from new supplier, our
procurement and sales team will perform
checking when the goods arrive at the store
for display.

If any complaint is received in respect of any
product which is attributable to manufacturing
defect, the procurement team in conjunction
with the inspection and repair team would
make a decision as to whether or not to
inspect other pieces of the same product
model from the same shipment to see if
similar manufacturing defect occurs in the
same batch of shipment.

Our management will be informed if defects
are found and our sales director will decide
whether to proceed with insurance claim
and/or liaise with the relevant supplier for
negotiation of appropriate remedy.

viii. Purchase: The Group maintains a list of approved
suppliers for purchase of inventory. All suppliers
and their payment terms are pre-approved by
Managing Director and recorded in systems.
Managing Director stipulates the amount of
inventory purchase each month after taking into
account of inventory level and sales forecast.
Inventory provision policy is based on aging
position of inventory items and their condition. All
consignment items are approved by Managing
Director on a case-by-case basis.
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ix. Retails Sales and wholesale sales: Discount

policy and credit policy are in place. All discounts
offered must be pre-approved by management. No
credit is given to retail customers. Goods refund
must be approved by management. Consignment
of Ulfenbo products to dealers must be approved
by General Manager.

3. Financial Controls

Vi

Vii.

viii.

proper controls are in place for the recording of
complete, accurate and timely accounting and
management information;

annual budget on all capital and revenue items
are prepared and approved by the management
before being adopted;

the management monitors the business activities
closely and reviews monthly financial results of
operations against budgets/forecast;

regular reports on revenue, trade receivables’
ageing and debtors’ ageing, stock ageing
and internal financial reports are prepared to
the management which give a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Group’s
financial performance;

monthly updates on internal financial statements
are provided to management and all Directors
which give a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Group’s performance, financial
position, liquidity and prospects in sufficient
details;

bank reconciliation is performed on monthly basis
to identify unrecorded bank transactions;

monthly inventory count is performed in storerooms
and warehouse;

annual audit by external auditor is carried out to
ensure that the consolidated financial statements
are prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, the Group’s
accounting policies and the applicable laws and
regulations;

daily available fund report is reviewed to monitor
the cash flows against budgets/forecast; and

review the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff for accounting and
financial reporting function and their training
programs.
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4. Compliance Controls 4. EHREE

The following policies and procedures are in place to HEDUTHEMEFRLURESR
safeguard the compliance control: By

50

Systems and Procedures on Disclosure of
Inside Information to ensure, with the assistance
of an internal work team (if required), that
any material information which comes to the
knowledge of any one or more officers should
be promptly identified, assessed and escalated,
where appropriate, for the attention of the Board.
The Board shall make timely decisions on
disclosure, if necessary, and take appropriate
measures to preserve confidentiality of inside
information until proper dissemination of inside
information;

Policies and practices on compliance with legal

HERNBHRHEREIRIE
F - DIEARETENM (1
FE) W THRAEMN—Z
NEREBAEFEENEM
BERERATREHA &
HRRERX (HER) ZEE8F
T -EFRCANKEFLE
%ﬁm(w S8 ) WIREUE
EREFAREERE B
EXERMAREE /LS

FRETEREREEREZ

and regulatory requirements which shall be BB EHehESEEER
reviewed and monitored regularly by the CGC as ChEESEEESEHHE
delegated by the Board in order to ensure that the NER  BRAANTETH
Company is in compliance with all the applicable BREBER =B HBE

laws, statues, rules and regulations and keep up
on any legal developments;

CCT Compliance Committee is established to
monitor, control and regularly review connected
transactions and continuing connected
transactions of the Company and ensure proper
compliance with all relevant laws and regulations,
the Listing Rules and disclosure requirements;

BB WER EEMEER
B
HEREREXZEMESE
TLER B EHRE
KRB BERXZ NIFERB
ERG WHERRIEARTE—
JIEBEERELER - EHR
Al IR E

iv. Whistle-blowing policy for the employees of the iv. SHGERKE AEAEER
Group to raise concerns, in confidence, about @5\7—{%z ISR T 5t B 7%
possible improprieties in financial reporting, PE#R mugﬁ* T HiE T
internal control or other matters. Such arrangement T A BERNE T A EITER
will be reviewed by the Audit Committee which o Ma‘ffc%FH‘—?Hﬂ%T}ZKE\
ensures that proper arrangement is in place for DiEE BEBBELEER
fair and independent investigation of the matters; ﬁ%ﬁ%l‘é 1—;/\$&§% hvivd
and HAE K

v. Anti-money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist v. SIEREBEREMERE

Financing Policy and Procedures is established
to set out the general framework for combating
crime against money laundering and financing
of terrorism. It provides guideline to prevent
the Group’s employees and clients/customers/
suppliers/vendors/contractors from being misused
for money laundering, terrorist financing or other
financial crime and has set out some indications
of potentially suspicious transactions/activities for
employees’ reference.
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Review of Internal Controls

Effectiveness of internal controls is tested by Internal
Audit Department regularly. Internal audit reviews and
agreed action plans should be reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board on timely basis.

C. Risk Management

I.

Risk Management Process

The risk management process includes risk
identification, risk evaluation, risk management
measures and risk control and review.

The management is entrusted with duties to identify,
analyze, evaluate, respond, monitor and communicate
risks associated with any activity, function or process
within its scope of responsibility and authority. Risk
are evaluated by the Board and management based
on (i) the severity of the impact of the risk on the
Group’s financial results; (ii) the probability that the
risk will occur; and (iii) the velocity or speed at which
risk may occur.

Based on the risk evaluation,
manage the risk as follows:

the Company will

— Risk elimination — the management may identify
and implement certain changes or controls that in
effect eliminate the risk entirely.

— Risk mitigation — the management may implement
risk mitigation plan designed to reduce the
likelihood, velocity or severity of the risk to an
acceptable level or contingency plan for possible
loss scenarios.

— Risk control and monitoring — it involves making
decisions regarding which risks are acceptable
and how to address those that are not; accidents
and other situations involving loss or near-loss will
be investigated and properly documented as part
of the effort to manage risks.

— Risk retention — the management may decide
that the risk rating is low enough that the risk is
acceptable level and no action is required and the
risk will continue to be monitored as part of the
risk management program to ensure the level of
risk does not increase to an unacceptable level.
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2. Significant Risks and Strategies

Certain significant risks have been identified through
the process of risk identification and assessment.
Such significant risks of the Group and their respective
key strategies/control measures are set out below:

i.  Decline in consumption demand resulted from
downturn in economic, unstable social conditions and
outbreak of COVID-19

Facing the unfavourable market situation, the
Group:

Proactively manages the Group's geographical
presences and develops alternative sales
channel including online shopping;

Optimizes business operations and shop
establishments;

Takes stringent cost control measures
including human resources streamline plan,
rental concession/reduction negotiation with
landlord, close loss-making showrooms;

Closely monitoring inventory level;

Offering more promotion discount to boost
sales; and

Introduce new brands to gain new market
segment and channels.

ii.  Interruption of supply chain due to outbreak of
COVID-19 and suspension of suppliers’
manufacturing plants

To diversify suppliers from different
geographical area to maintain a stable
inventory supply;

Open communication channels with customers
and to explore alternative arrangements;

Maintain close contact with suppliers to
ensure that goods can be shipped once the
suppliers resume production; and

Keep more stock to cater for the possible
longer lead time.
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ii. ~Threat of disruption of operation due to staff's
contraction of COVID-19

COVID-19 is a highly contagious disease. People
contracting the disease and those in close contact
with the virus carrier are subject to quarantine.
Retail outlets, offices and restaurants with staff
contracting the disease are required to suspend
business temporarily for thorough disinfection. To
minimize the risk:

* FEvery day Human Resources Department will
identify if there is any staff living in the same
building/estate with confirmed case on the
previous day;

e At the same time, all staff living in the same
building with confirmed case are required to
report to the Company;

e Staff living in the same building with confirmed
case is required to work from home if possible,
or otherwise take sick leave with immediate
effect and to undergo COVID-19 test. Such
staff may only resume normal working after
obtaining negative test result;

e The Company implemented split team
arrangement with part of the staff work from
home ("WFH"); shorten the business hours of
its showrooms and roadshows during the
period when the threat of community infection
was high;

e Working hours for office staff have been
adjusted to avoid the peak hours;

e Company providing masks for staff and
sanitizers at work place;

¢ Reduce number of meetings and the
participants and use video-conference to
minimize close contact among staff;

e Minimize cross location contacts; and

e Purchase notebook for computer upgrade to
facilitate WFH.

iv. Reliance on Hong Kong market

To diversify the market exposure, the Group
explores online option with no territorial limitation.
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v.  Unknown online competitors V. KAAIRR_EFrFHF

The Group is further developing and leveraging REFFHE—FSEBENFNE

on online and offline market. R ERETmE -

vi. Shop location and rental expenses vi. B ERELFS

Shop rental is always the key cost component of SR ERNEENE

the Group. The significant fluctuation of shop rents ERABEKE D - [EEETE S

may affect the Group's profitability. The Company MEREE e B ARE

seeks to reduce the risk of cost increases in the BEmEFEE N o NAT R

following ways: 8 LU 75 30 B AR B AN 3G 0

PR :

e Establish good relationship with landlords and o HETIUETEIER
developers, keep abreast of rental of premises WEE MY MR
in the vicinity to cater for showroom MENBESIER 0 LUE
replacement, if required; EEERFHREINE ;

* Explore other locations with good potential at o IEREAKFLHEREHR
reasonable level. Traffic and relative position BWEINE MR -
to competitors nearby are also evaluated; NI ERERIE T

NEREMEHLE

e Perform profitability forecast to determine o ETRAEEHTIENR - LU
financial viability; WEEMBE AT

e Closely monitor individual shop performance o Y B (EEE R ZE
and profitability to determine their renewal BEMBEFESD  DIEE
options; and HEMEE K

e Setup pop up stores at low rent to learn more o LUEBRMITESRIIIRET
about the foot traffic and spending power of 15 DIIESR SR EARERS
the location before setting up a long-term THIE—FSEAEZHN
showroom. AMEIRHEERES -

vii. Product selection Vii. ERERE

Product selection is the area where the Group
should focus on in order to make sure that we stay
ahead of the competition:

e The Group maintains a high quality purchasing
team with good market trend knowledge; and

e Convene regular sales meeting to review the
sales trend and market response to products.
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viii. Inventories turnover management

A higher, or quicker, inventory turnover decreases
the cash conversion cycle. An effective inventories
turnover management is in place:

e There is regular review on inventory ageing
position and comparison with sales forecast
and market trend;

e High-value items are purchased after sales
orders are received;

e Maintain close business relationship and
communication with manufacturers to strive
for optimal and timely supply; and

* Hold bargain and warehouse sale for long
aged items,

ix. Cyber security risk

In order to mitigate cyber security risk, the
following measures are in place:

e The Company's IT infrastructure is regularly
scanned and patched,;

* Risky external IP addresses are blocked;

* Emails are filtered for spam and malware and
training about dangerous email attachments
are provided;

e |nstall specialized ransomware/virus detection
software in all computers;

e Access rights to the Group's systems are
strictly controlled and regularly reviewed; and

* Regular backups of data for recovery.

x.  Risk on unethical behaviour of the Board and
employees

e Strengthen supervision, management accountability
and financial control,

* Improve risk management and internal control
systems;
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e Evaluate and enhance internal audit functions;

* Maintain effective whistleblowing policy and
procedures as well as employee handbook;

e Promote culture of integrity; and

* Maintain policy and procedures on disclosure
of interest before transaction,

xi. Non-compliance with related laws and regulations
which have significant impact on business

e Continuous monitoring of controls and risk;

e Establish a reporting tree and thresholds for
significant incident;

* Review policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements
regularly;

e Use eAlert to keep on top of regulatory
changes; and

e (Constantly monitor for compliance with
updated checklists.

D. Management Confirmation

The Board acknowledged that it had received a confirmation
from the management on the effectiveness of the Control
Systems of the Group for the Year. The Audit Committee and
the Board, upon reviewing the Control Systems, were not
aware of any significant issues that would have an adverse
impact on the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group's
operational, financial and compliance areas of the Control
Systems.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company had adopted a dividend policy setting out the
principles for the Board to determine appropriate amount of
dividend to be distributed to the Shareholders. The Company
intends to provide Shareholders with regular interim and final
dividends (as the case may be) based on the earnings
attributable to its Shareholders after taking into consideration
of the factors stated in the policy, including inter alia, (i) cash
flow requirements for business operations; (ii) cash available,
financial liabilities and capital commitment; (iii) market
environment and challenges; and (iv) future development
and investment opportunities. The declaration of dividends or
recommendation on such payment shall be subject to all
applicable laws, rules and regulations including but not
limited to the Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“CO”) and the
Articles of Association of the Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has established a shareholders' communication
policy and the Board shall review it on a regular basis to
ensure its effectiveness. The Company communicates with
the Shareholders and/or potential investors mainly in the
following ways: (i) the holding of annual general meetings
("AGM") and extraordinary general meetings, if any,
which may be convened for specific purposes to provide
opportunities for the Shareholders to communicate directly
to the Board; (ii) the publication of announcements, annual
reports, interim reports and/or circulars as required under
the Listing Rules and press releases providing updated
information of the Group; (iii) the availability of latest
information of the Group on the Company's website at https://
www.UlfertsIntl.com; (iv) the holding of press conference(s)
from time to time; and (v) meeting with investors and analysts
on a regular basis and participate investor road show and
sector conference.

There is regular dialogue with institutional Shareholders and
general presentations are made when financial results are
announced. Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit
the Company's website to raise enquiries through our
Investor Relations Department whose contact details are
available on the Company's website and the "Corporate
Information and Key Dates" section of this annual report.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings
for substantial separate issues, including re-election of
retiring Directors. The chairman of the 2021 AGM, the
chairmen/members of the Board Committees and the
external auditor were available at the 2021 AGM to answer
questions from the Shareholders. With the assistance of the
Company Secretary, the Chairman of the meeting had
explained the procedures for conducting a poll during the
meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the
Shareholders as required to be disclosed pursuant to the CG
Code:
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Right to Convene/Call General Meetings

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting
rights of all the Shareholders having a right to vote at general
meetings may send a request to the Company pursuant to
Section 566 of the CO. The request must state the general
nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting, and
may include the text of resolution that may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting.
Requests may consist of several documents in like form. A
request may be sent to the Company for the attention of the
Company Secretary in hard copy form or in electronic form
and must be authenticated by the relevant Shareholder(s).
Such request will be verified with the Company's share
registrar and the Company Secretary will request the Board
to convene a general meeting within 21 days upon its
confirmation that the request is in order. Such meeting must
be held on a date not more than 28 days after the date of the
notice convening the meeting and such notice must include
notice of the resolution.

Section 568 of the CO provides that if the Directors do not
within 21 days as stated above to call a general meeting, the
Shareholders representing more than one half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may themselves call a general
meeting, but the meeting so convened must be called for a
date not more than 3 months after the Directors become
subject to the requirement to call a meeting. The meeting
must be called in the same matter, as nearly as possible, as
that in which that meeting is required to be called by the
Directors. The business that may be dealt with at the meeting
includes a resolution to be dealt with at the meeting. All
reasonable expenses incurred by the Shareholders of this
purpose must be reimbursed by the Company.

Putting forward Proposals at General Meetings

Section 615 of the CO provides that (i) Shareholder(s)
representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders; or (ii) at least 50 Shareholders having a right
to vote on the resolution at the AGM may request the
Company to circulate a notice of a resolution to be properly
moved or is intended to be moved at that meeting. Such
request must identify the resolution to be moved at the AGM,
must be authenticated by the relevant Shareholder(s) and
sent to the registered office of the Company for the attention
of the Company Secretary in hard copy form or in electronic
form not later than 6 weeks before the relevant AGM or if
later, the time when the notice of AGM is despatched.
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Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are available for viewing on the
Company's website.

Making Enquires

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company's share registrar, Tricor
Secretaries Limited. Other Shareholders' enquiries can be
directed to the Investor Relations Department of the
Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no significant change in the Company's constitutional
documents during the Year.

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE AND
REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor the
independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with applicable
standards. Members of the Audit Committee were of the view
that the Company's auditor, Messrs. Ernst & Young (“EY”) is
independent and had recommended the Board to re-appoint
it as the Company's auditor at the 2022 AGM. During the
Year, EY had rendered audit services and certain non-audit
services to the Group and the remuneration paid/payable to
it by the Group is set out as follows:
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Audit services ZEIRFS 875
Non-audit services: FJEZERFS -
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EY::

To the members of Ulferts International Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Ulferts International Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 143, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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EY::

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below,
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

RABEEETEIR
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Key audit matter

BT EE

Write-down of inventories fo net realisable value

W FE E i B3 FE

The Group had inventories with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$57,833,000 as at 31 March 2022.
The Group periodically reviews the net realisable
value of inventories to determine whether any write-
down of inventories to their net realisable value is
required. In estimating the net realisable value of
inventories, the Group considers, inter alia, the
nature, ageing and conditions of inventories, current
market conditions and other relevant factors.
EEEN 2022 F 3 B 31 HBKRME{EA 57,833,000 7T
REE . BEEHGECZASRFEETENESE L
ETRARFERFEMBETERFE - WMETEEZH
BRFER  RXEEgER (HPEHE) fECME &
LGRS ~ RITTOR A EMERRAE -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
M9 E et Al R IR RASE T AT B IR T

We evaluated management’s assessment of whether
the Group’s inventories are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Our procedures included
evaluating the methodologies, inputs and assumptions
used by the Group in determining the net realisable
value of inventories and the write-down of
inventories required, with reference to, inter alia, the
nature, ageing and conditions of inventories,
historical and subsequent sales information, and
current market conditions.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key audit matter

A EETEIR

The determination of the net realisable value of
inventories requires management to make significant
assumptions and estimates that affect the reported
amount of inventories and related disclosures.
BEEEFHERBRR LG AR
ERE AR LIEEKRE

We focus on this matter due to the magnitude of the
balance involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required in estimating the
net realisable value of inventories.
HRBEERCSERAN Bt EEC 23 ES
ERERSFHIE G SBMIEIENREESEE -

The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

HENEENEN G E M BERRME I3 R 156

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

e (Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chung Chi Ming.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

28 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
fmaRa kAt EEISR

Year ended 31 March 2022 i Z 20228 3831HIEEE

2022 2021

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Bt EE THET FAET

REVENUE WA 5 225,457 234,504
Cost of sales $4ERA (82,820) (81,613)
Gross profit FEA 142,637 152,891
Other income and gains EMULA XUz 5 2,765 9,654
Selling and distribution expenses $4& K& 2845952 (115,279) (117,312)
General and administrative expenses —#% & 1T B (22,770) (24,204)
Finance costs B175 A 6 (1,535) (1,377)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BR7: BT 7 5,818 19,652
Income tax expense FTERLFIS 10 (1,676) (2,826)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AND TOTAL 4,142 16,826

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
FNEF R FRERE RS AAE

Attributable to: FE{L :
Owners of the parent &ARHBE A 4,142 16,826

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
FAREBRERER ABGSRET

Basic and diluted (expressed in HK cents per share) 0.52 2.10
EARREE (BRLUBIIREBEALL)

Ulferts International Limited B{LEIFFERAR)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e R IRR R

31 March 2022 20224-3831H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS IEREEE

2022 2021

Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
BffaE FET FET

Property, plant and equipment ¥% - M= NKHEE 13 9,746 6,269
Right-of-use assets {6 A& &E 14 71,227 35,776
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 17 10,454 3,598
TANFIA ~ d KEMEW I

Deferred tax assets IEIEFRLIEE & 21 5,311 5,897
Total non-current assets FEMEN & EAR(E 96,738 51,540
CURRENT ASSETS #i#& &

Inventories & 15 57,833 47,654
Trade receivables B 5 EIFRIE 16 3,525 3,261
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 17 14,876 18,117
TANFUIR ~ 2d L HEMEW I

Tax recoverable AJUL[E] %18 710 -
Cash and cash equivalents IR& LIRS EEY 76,804 93,688
Total current assets BN E EEE 153,748 162,720
CURRENT LIABILITIES B &E&E

Trade and bills payables B Z B FIB KRB ZIE 18 10,402 8,815
Other payables and accruals E &SR8 K EFTE 19 38,108 38,200
Lease liabilities THE& & 14 40,334 25,289
Tax payable FEfFFEIE - 5,082
Provisions #/#& 20 5,144 5,825
Total current liabilities B & (E/E%E 93,988 83,211
NET CURRENT ASSETS & & &% E 59,760 79,509
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 156,498 131,049
REERABIAEE

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 3Fi8h& (&

Lease liabilities HHE & (& 14 36,070 11.684
Provisions #{& 20 5,694 3,733
Total non-current liabilities 3FREN & (E42%8 41,764 15,417
Net assets EEFE 114,734 115,632

Ulferts International Limited Ei{tEfSER/A R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
& MK R

31 March 2022 202243831H

2022 2021
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Bt & THET TET
EQUITY &z

Equity attributable to owners of the parent B2 B BEE AL
Share capital J&4 22 110,337 110,337
Retained profits R &7 4,397 5,295
Total equity #4857 114,734 115,632

Wong Chi Fai Mok Fung Lin, Ivy
"BEHE EREE
Director Director

BE BF

Ulferts International Limited B{LEIFFERAR)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEREER

Year ended 31 March 2022 8 Z 20228 3831HIEEE

Retained
profits/
(accumulated
Share losses) Total
capital REBAEFR equity
&N (RETEE) iR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET TH&T FHET
At 1 April 2020 7 2020 4 B 1 H 110,337 (11,531) 98,806
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year - 16,826 16,826
FEREN N2 R AR
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 110,337 5,295 115,632
R2021FE3HA31HK 20214 A 1H
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year - 4,142 4,142
FRRANR2HEW AR
Final 2021 dividend declared EJK 2021 F£ARHKE - (5,040) (5,040)
At 31 March 2022 j2 2022 % 3 A 31 H 110,337 4,397 114,734

Ulferts International Limited Ei{tEfSER/A R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeIRERESR
Year ended 31 March 2022 i ZF 20228 3831HIEEE

2022 2021

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BffEE FET FAET

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES KR&EFEIREME

Profit before tax BB BT A 5,818 19,652
Adjustments for: FLRA NS IEFT/EFAEE
Finance costs B1#5aA 6 1,535 1,377
Interest income Fl SEHA 5 (275) (272)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 7,037 15,587
W% - B RRBITE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FREEETE 7 39,733 40,754
Gain on lease modification T & &T Wit (8) -
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of property, plant 7 - 171

and equipment

HE MEYZE - BENREBERECEBR

Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade receivables, net 7 166 (38)
B RWFIERME(BERE ) F8
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of inventories to net 7 1,556 (2,727)

realisable value
Wos,(BEME ) FEZAISIRFE
Provision for restatement costs — decrease in estimated provisions (15) -

BB — At B EED

55,547 74,504
Increase in inventories ZE# N (11,735) (8,528)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables B 5 EWERIE A (1210) (430) 217
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (439) 3,627
BNHRIA ~ 2 REMEKEIERL/(30)
Increase in trade and bills payables 1,587 4,360
B 2N IR LA REE M
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals (537) 3,783
HE R IA N et ERg M, O )
Decrease in provisions &g (344) (1,133)
Cash generated from operations & & EEFTEIEE 43,649 76,730
Interest received EWAIE 220 272
Hong Kong profits tax refunded/(paid) BE& (B ) BHERER (6,882) 75
Net cash flows from operating activities & & EB)FT 18I0 i 27948 36,987 77,077
CASH FLOWS FROM AN INVESTING ACTIVITY REEBRESME
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (8,430) (1,233)

BEYE  BELARKEEEB

Ulferts International Limited EX{LEFSERA R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER
Year ended 31 March 2022 8 Z 20228 3831HIEEE

2022

Notes HK$°000
Bt & FET

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES RIE B IREME

2021

HK$°000
FET

Principal portion of lease payments &4 52 &AL D (38,866) (44,449)

Interest portion of lease payments & 52 X B¥ 5 (1,535) (1,377)

Dividend paid BT S (5,040) -

Net cash flows used in financing activities (45,441) (45,826)

RMEESTARSREFHE

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND (16,884) 30,018
CASH EQUIVALENTS

RekReFEWEM OB ) FE

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 93,688 63,670

FNBESRBRESSEY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 76,804 93,688

FXRRESRIBESSEY

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

RELREEEBWERINT

Cash and bank balances IR& K RI1T4E85 76,804 03,688

Ulferts International Limited Ei{tEfSER/A R
Annual Report 2021/2022 &k
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAF5ERaRMEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

Corporate and Group Information

Ulferts International Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The
registered office of the Company is located at Units
1905-07, 19th Floor, Emperor Group Centre, 288
Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 29 January 2018.

The Company is an investment holding company. During
the year, the Company’s subsidiaries were involved in the
following principal activities:

e retail of imported furniture
e wholesale of imported furniture
e project sales (“special projects”)

The immediate holding company of the Company is
Ulferts International Group Holdings Limited, which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).

In the opinion of the directors, Albert Yeung Investments
Holdings Limited (“AY Investments Holdings”), which was
incorporated in the BVI, is the ultimate holding company
of the Company. AY Investments Holdings is legally
wholly-owned by First Trust Management AG, acting as
the trustee of Albert Yeung Investments Discretionary
Trust, a private discretionary trust set up by Dr. Yeung
Sau Shing, Albert (“Dr. Albert Yeung”).

For the purpose of these consolidated financial
statements, all companies directly or indirectly controlled
by respective private discretionary trusts set up by Dr.
Albert Yeung other than the Group are collectively
referred to as the “Emperor Group”.

Ulferts International Limited B{LEIFFERAR)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIFsERaRpIEE

31 March 2022 #ZF20226-3H31H EFE

I. Corporate and Group Information (Continued)
Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
as follows:

Place of Issued
incorporation ordinary
and business share capital

MR REEE SRITERRA

1. REAREEEHN (&)
BREMBA R ZER
RKABERWBARZFBNOT ¢

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
AATEMLEZB DL

Direct Indirect

Principal
activities

FEXH

Ulferts International British Virgin US$1
Investment Limited Islands =

BICBBRRERRAT  RBELHS

Ulferts of Sweden Hong Kong HK$350,000
(Far East) Limited B 350,000 T
ML (R )
BRAR
Ulferts of Sweden Macau MOP25,000
(Macau) Limited P 25,000 R PFIIT
e CORPFI)
BRAFA
Mighty Wish Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000
BEBRAT B 1,000,000 7T

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

B i
100 -

- 100

- 100

- 100

Investment holding
KREZK

Retail and wholesale
of imported
furniture, and
special projects

EORBTEHEM BN
Ti2EE

Liaising with project
customers in Macau
BisRMPIBEERF

Provision of group
tenancy agent
services

REEEHEAEA
AR %5

EEFRBR EXRMIIZARFRBA
ANERREFEXENERNAEE
EEFEBAEIZHMBALAR - TS
B REEMMEBARZFEEE
HR\EENILE
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Annual Report 2021/2022 3R 73



74

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

2.1 Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention. These financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand (“HK$'000”) except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2022. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Ulferts International Limited B{LEIFFERAR)
Annual Report 2021/2022 &R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

21 mNEZE (&)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any
non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (a) the fair value of the consideration
received, (b) the fair value of any investment retained
and (c) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and

Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

2.2

SHELE(F)

HAKRBRENRBRZEE A
SERNEEREE BH WA
X EBREREINGERE RS

HEBNMERER LAl =182

SEENTHEREEHEKREN
A - RAEZEFIRZMBLARMERE
BB ARMERRS °

HARBARE—HRBARZZES
o BIEBEEER () ZNBATZE
= (BEmE) &R () EmEE
MR R M ot o BRTEDEL M (i) INME R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt
with in the previous amendments which affect
financial reporting when an existing interest rate
benchmark is replaced with an alternative risk-free
rate (“RFR”). The amendments provide a practical
expedient to allow the effective interest rate to be
updated without adjusting the carrying amount of
financial assets and liabilities when accounting for
changes in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows of financial assets and liabilities, if the
change is a direct consequence of the interest rate
benchmark reform and the new basis for determining
the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent
to the previous basis immediately preceding the
change. In addition, the amendments permit
changes required by the interest rate benchmark
reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge
documentation without the hedging relationship
being discontinued. Any gains or losses that could
arise on transition are dealt with through the normal
requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise
hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments also
provide a temporary relief to entities from having to
meet the separately identifiable requirement when an
RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief
allows an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to
assume that the separately identifiable requirement
is met, provided the entity reasonably expects the
RFR risk component to become separately
identifiable within the next 24 months. Furthermore,
the amendments require an entity to disclose
additional information to enable users of financial
statements to understand the effect of interest rate
benchmark reform on an entity’s financial
instruments and risk management strategy. The
amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.

Ulferts International Limited B{LEIFFERAR)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 &z 20224383 1HIEFE
2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 22 S:tHREIEE & 8) (&)
(Continued)

(b) Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021 (b) M 2021 F 4 BB ETE

extends the availability of the practical expedient for
lessees to elect not to apply lease modification
accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct
consequence of the covid-19 pandemic by 12
months. Accordingly, the practical expedient applies
to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease
payments affects only payments originally due on or
before 30 June 2022, provided the other conditions
for applying the practical expedient are met. The
amendment is effective retrospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits at the beginning of the current
accounting period. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendment did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

2.3 CHEMEBRENZE BT
HRE4EA|
REBI RN ZEY B PEMAL
T E R M B REBZH R RALIER]

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,

78

in these financial statements.

BBV HREER -

Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual EEIEREED BB NELE
HKFRS 3 Framework’ 25 3SR IEEIAN
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets EEMIEREER RKRESHABES N
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its FA0 LTS el &
HKAS 28 (2011) Associate or Joint Venture® SRS 28 By & EH &Lt
g8 (2011 4F) =
BRI A
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts? EEMEREED RS [E 2
F17 5
Amendments to Insurance Contracts®*® BB IR EER RES/AE 25
HKFRS 17 217 SR B5T
PN
Amendment to Initial Application of HKFRS 17 BB FRIREIER] B EA ARERAER)
HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 — Comparative FEA7 F2 85T E 17 R
Information? PN I IREERZE
9 FEHIRIZ FEFF
— &R 2
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as FH &L BESERERE
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current>* FASEBEIAR  BUIEE) 24
Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting et L] EEI R EE 2
HKAS 1 and Policies? 81 ENES
HKFRS Practice RS ERE
Statement 2 EMESE 25/
(CEIEN
Amendments to Definition of Accounting FHEeEL| DEEE R EZE 2
HKAS 8 Estimates? % 8 BRI AN
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets EEEERE BB —XXGELR
HKAS 12 and Liabilities arising from a 12 SRZAERT A BENKEETEH
Single Transaction? HYIERE R IR 2
Amendments to Property, Plant and Equipment: FH RS Y ERE
HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended 16 SR IEFT AR & EEEHZET
Use' ZHTEEIE

Amendments to

Onerous Contracts — Cost of

BEHGRERE

=Rl T+~

BECK —/ET—

HKAS 37 Fulfilling a Contract’ 37 S BET A EKZ LA
Annual Improvements ~ Amendments to HKFRS 1, BB RHAER HE SRS ER
to HKFRSs HKFRS 9, lllustrative 2018 EE 2020 %15 HBE
2018-2020 Examples accompanying FBZ FEHK FRERAEER|EE O
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41! = gE « ISR

HAERIZE 16 57

PRz ST R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

s No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

4 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020
to align the corresponding wording with no change in
conclusion

5 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the
temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39
rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1
January 2023

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a
reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with a
reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in June 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements. The amendments also add to
HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine
what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that
would be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int
21 if they were incurred separately rather than assumed
in a business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3
should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively
instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the
amendments clarify that contingent assets do not qualify
for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
April 2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to
business combinations for which the acquisition date is
on or after the date of first application, the Group will not
be affected by these amendments on the date of
transition.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit
or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the
HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader
review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption
now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments specify that if an entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting
period if it complies with those conditions at that date.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of
the liability. The amendments also clarify the situations
that are considered a settlement of a liability. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their significant
accounting policies. Accounting policy information is
material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it
can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in
the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-
mandatory, an effective date for these amendments is
not necessary. The Group is currently assessing the
impact of the amendments on the Group’s accounting
policy disclosures.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of
that period. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception so that it no longer applies to
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising
from these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions
related to leases and decommissioning obligations at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented,
with any cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained profits or other
component of equity as appropriate at that date. In
addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively
to transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment any proceeds from selling items produced
while bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises
the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost
of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only to
items of property, plant and equipment made available
for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period
presented in the financial statements in which the entity
first applies the amendments. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to
a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling
that contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment
used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract
and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable
to the counterparty under the contract. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022 and shall be applied to contracts for which
an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first
applies the amendments. Earlier application is permitted.
Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the
Group are as follows:

e HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the terms
of a new or modified financial liability are
substantially different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only those paid
or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity
applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are
modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of
the annual reporting period in which the entity first
applies the amendment. The amendment is effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

e HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in
lllustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment of
lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for
impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating
units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer
exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount
of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of any depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii)a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be
replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% - 331/3%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at
or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

24 EXEEBUERIBRE (&)

(Continued)
Leases (Continued) HE (&)
Group as a lessee (Continued) AEEERAHA (/8)

(b) Lease liabilities (b) HHEEE

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate. The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in
the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-
value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of
its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in profit or
loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to
the lessee are accounted for as finance leases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessor (Continued)

At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the lease payments
and related payments (including the initial direct costs),
and presented as a receivable at an amount equal to the
net investment in the lease. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to profit or loss so as to provide a
constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is
classified as a finance lease or operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition
exemption, the Group classifies the sublease as an
operating lease.

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised
cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(*SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or
both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held
within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets at amortised
cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified
or impaired.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has
retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for
credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For
those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not purchased
or originated credit-impaired) and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings, or payables, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at
amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in profit or
loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred in the process of disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Provisions (Continued)

A provision for reinstatement costs is recognised when a
contractual obligation under the terms of an operating
lease has arisen to reinstate a leased property at the end
of the lease. Reinstatement costs are provided at the
value of the expected costs to settle the obligation at the
end of the reporting period using estimated cash flows
and an equivalent asset is recognised and depreciated
over the term of the operating lease. The estimated
future costs of reinstatement are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax
assets are reassessed at the end of the reporting period
and are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income on a systematic basis over the
periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to
which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group with a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a
contract where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

»  Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, generally upon delivery of the
goods.

Other income

Other service income is recognised in the period in
which the relevant service is rendered.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

24 EXSETBERIRE (18)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

102

(Continued)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates an occupational retirement scheme
registered under the Hong Kong Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance for those employees who
are eligible to participate in the scheme. This scheme
has been granted exemption under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. When an
employee leaves the scheme before his/her interest in
the Group’s employer contributions vesting fully, the
ongoing contributions payable by the Group are reduced
by the relevant amount of the forfeited employer’s
contributions.

The Group also operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Contributions to these schemes are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the schemes. The assets of
these schemes are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administered funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to
the financial statements.

Ulferts International Limited B{LEIFFERAR)
Annual Report 2021/2022 &R

BHRE

BNRERAEESHEE S MRS
FEE IR 35 WS SRS SR 2 B
(UREERE) BB - GNEERN
AEEREBEAOETRH (BEZE60
ERNRBzZEHRTEFE) B

e B iEF
BIKTEFISTE

REBRBEE BRSBTS ERE -
RITBGER2REZNEZEER
BEERKFE - REEERFIELE
EEFEIRD > ZORKFTEIEER S -
ERENAZ2BZEAEEMEZE
FERCBRHZTE > AEEENS
RFBHINRREEE MR ZEEE
BRI

AEBTREE ARG EATEEFE
BROIRE-—RERLTART EATEE
RAEAETE (TREERTE ) DUt
ZERERZMABARSFTEZEES
£ o REBPATEZBEMRTN ARTE
T EFHETRS 2B EEENS -

ZEFAEEHCHER DN ZEERER
HELADLHEFE  TREKRAE
BT R BA R ER R P
B - A FrtEIcEEN AR CE
ENR HBUEEESES -

525\

R SRR S LB R R R
ERRBEE - BRRIKR SN T HR
KMFEERIKEE



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAF5ERaRMEE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit
or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions.

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAF5ERaRMEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

3.

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of the reporting period.
Non-financial assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in
use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of
disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Provisions for reinstatement costs

The Group makes provisions for reinstatement costs
associated with certain leased properties under
operating leases attributable to the Group based on the
estimates of the expected costs to be incurred to settle
the relevant contractual obligations under the terms of
the leases at the end of the reporting period, which are
subject to uncertainties and might differ from the actual
costs to be incurred. Significant judgements and
estimates are required, including, inter alia, making
various assumptions with reference to past experience
and available information to determine the expected
costs to be incurred. Further details are included in note
20 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAF5ERaRMEE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

3.

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Net realisable value of inventories

The Group periodically reviews the net realisable value
of inventories to determine whether any write-down of
inventories to net reliable value is required. In estimating
the net realisable value of inventories, the Group
considers, inter alia, the nature, ageing and condition of
inventories, current market condition and other relevant
factors. Based on such assessment, write-down of
inventories will be made when the carrying amount of
inventories declines below their estimated net realisable
value. Due to changes in market and economic
environment and customers’ preference, actual
saleability of inventories and actual selling prices that
could be realised might be different from the original
estimation and profit or loss could be affected by
differences in these estimations.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions are expected to deteriorate over the
next year which can lead to an increased number of
defaults, the historical default rates are adjusted. At
each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of a customer’s actual default
in the future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAF5ERaRMEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

3.

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The
IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such
as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when
leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such
as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Operating Segment Information

The Group principally focuses on the retail and
wholesale of imported furniture, and special projects.
Information reported to the Group’s chief operating
decision maker, for the purpose of resource allocation
and performance assessment, focuses on the operating
results of the Group as a whole as the Group’s resources
are integrated and no discrete operating segment
information is available. Accordingly, no operating
segment information is presented.

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

Substantially all of the Group’s revenues from
external customers during the years ended 31 March
2022 and 2021 were attributed to Hong Kong based
on the location of the customers or the location of
certain key processes/resources from which the
Group derived the revenues.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

+ =

RAFRERaRpfIEE

31 March 2022 &% 20224331 HIEFE

4. Operating Segment Information (Continued)
Geographical information (Continued)

(b) Non-current assets

4. EEPWEH (&)
RER (#F)
(b) FFEFRENEE

All of the Group’s non-current assets as at the end of AREFBNRRERRCIERHEE
the reporting period were located in Hong Kong BEEFEMBERHHMARE
based on the location of the assets. o
Information about major customers BRETERERZ2EH
No revenues from transactions with a single external BZE 20224 K 202143 831 ik
customer for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 FE  BERKBE—IIPEERFZ
amounted to 10% or more of the total revenue of the WAEAREEZEKA 10% KL E -

Group.

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers BF & #UA

5. WA~ Bt A R Uz
WA -

2022 2021

HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET

Retail of furniture RMTE 212,166 216,979
Wholesale of furniture {5 {fL it 2 8,081 8,129
Special projects — project sales TI2IEH —IHE{HE 5,210 9,396
225,457 234,504

Revenue from contracts with customers EFREHWA

(i) Disaggregated revenue information

For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021

Types of goods & &5

(i) #SHYAEH

B E 2022 FF K 2021 % 3 B 31
HitFE

2022 2021

HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET

Sale of furniture {R{ELSEE 225,457 234,504
Timing of revenue recognition Y A #E =% RS
At a point in time PE—RFRE 2, 225,457 234,504
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RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains (Continued)

5. A ~ EftblIA R W (#8)
EFEHWA (/&)
(i) #IAEH (#8)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

(ii)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period and recognised from
performance obligations satisfied in previous
periods:

Revenue recognised that was included in contract liabilities at the

beginning of the reporting period:
RmEHDF AN EE DR ¢

TRETRAR S P RERZ WS
T8 A ARSHIENERE
WHRBFEHERITENEERE

7

[V

2022 2021

HK$°000
FET

HK$°000
FET

Sale of goods T mEE 22,898 18,121
Sale of gift vouchers #5434 & 587 -
23,485 18,121

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
upon delivery of goods. For retail sale of furniture,
payment in advance and/or upon delivery by
customers is normally required. For wholesale of
furniture, payment is generally due within 30 to 60
days from the date of billing. For project sales,
payment is generally due based on terms agreed by
relevant parties as set out in the respective
agreements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The Group generated revenues from certain projects for
the supply of custom-made furniture and other related
products and services (“project sales”). The Group
entered into several contractual agreements with certain
third parties for the supply of custom-made furniture and
related services, pursuant to which the Group directly/
indirectly delivered such goods and services to certain
members of the Emperor Group and, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, these are special project
arrangements involving certain members of the Emperor
Group. During the year, the Group recognised project
sales revenues of approximately HK$9,000 (2021:
HK$285,000) under such arrangements.

Other income and gains EH{thI§ A B Ui

5. A ~ EftblIA R (#8)

ERESHWA (#8)

AEBRETHEEHRAEREMAE
BEMEBRENEEEEKRA (T1E
BEE ) AEEBEETE=H5
HERFITERMMAERERBII LS
MERNZH - Bt XEEBHE M
BERXNZERRERETFETER
BREAT > MANBREERE &
FLRPPNERREEERENTZL
BEELH R AEEREZE
ZHERIE B HE WAL 9,000 BT
(2021 4 : 285,000 7T ) °

2022 2021

HK$°000
FAET

HK$°000
TET

Other service income EfARFFBA 1,465 1,347
Government subsidies* BT 8L * 177 7,797
Bank interest income $81T %l WA 275 272
Others HAh 848 238

2,765 9,654

The government subsidies for the current year mainly
represent subsidies received under the Phasing Out Euro IV
Diesel Commercial Vehicles — Ex-gratia Payment Scheme of
the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
The government subsidies for the prior year mainly
represented subsidies received under the Employment
Support Scheme and Retail Sector Subsidy Scheme of the
Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating
to the subsidies.

* FABEHEBEERRREEBENTH
[ BURT R R ER BB T H S P 2 B o —
HEEBEIFTEIMMmEE - RE—F
B BT EZRERETBRENTR
EBARESENE RTEXRME
WEIRIHEBY - I A ELHE BB B 2 RIZRL
BRIFSUAEIR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

6. Finance Costs 6. BIFERLA
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TAET
Interest on lease liabilities FHE & & & 1,535 1,377

7. Profit Before Tax 7. BEWBLEF

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEERBRRIEFMENE . (5TA)

(crediting): TF&I1E -
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT FERT
Cost of inventories sold BE&&Z &4 81,264 84,340
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of inventories to net 1,556 (2,727)

realisable value

Wow,(BEME) FEETRRE

Total amount recognised as cost of sales e A H &K A2 4258 82,820 81,613
Auditor’'s remuneration BTN <$ 875 850
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 7,037 15,587
Y%~ BB NRBITE

Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FHBEEITE 14 39,733 40,754
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of property, plant and equipment* - 171
HE MIEYE ~ BB RRBIEE 2 EE *

Lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities 14(c) 5,909 5,550

Rt A\HEREFEZHEMNR

Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ and chief
executive’s remuneration (note 8)):

BERANRAX (NMBREFEAETEITHRASFM (MEs)):

Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances 40,055 39,204
TE - #$ ~ TEALROERL
Pension scheme contributions (defined contribution schemes)** 1,801 1,698

RKBETBIMR (ERMESETE])

41,856 40,902
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade receivables, net 16 166 (38)
B S ENFIERE(BERE)  F%8
Foreign exchange differences, net [EXZE£ @ 358 (317) (123)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HAFEERIRBMAE
31 March 2022 8iZE 20229383 1HIEFE

7. Profit Before Tax 7. BERELEF

* Included in “General and administrative expenses” in the StAGEBERNEMEEISREKEAR T —
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other MERATHRERS -
comprehensive income.

**  There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the o REENEARAERFLUBEIRBHR
Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of K2 B ISR -

contributions.

8. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration 8 EERIFIE{THASME

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration of the BB EAs FHER - FEAT
Group for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules B&HIEE 383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ (¢) M () &
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock PDIREENT (WEESEMNEER)
Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong ROIE 2 BB FAAEEES
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Hong EFEXTEBETHAEMSUT :

Kong Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Fees 8% 1,028 1,140

Other emoluments: E A< :

Salaries and allowances ¥4 f )2 8L 1,828 3,270
Discretionary bonuses BJIS1EAL 105 277
Pension scheme contributions (defined contribution schemes) 75 119

BB BN (EEMEREE)

2,008 3,666
3,036 4,806
(a) Independent non-executive directors (@) BIAFHRTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive R ENBIFATEFZE
directors during the year were as follows: ST -

2022 2021

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET THERT

Chan Yee Man [R& = 180 180

Chiu Kin Fai #B{#HE 180 180

Ng Hoi Yue {h)8F 180 180

540 540
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RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

8. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration 8 ZEERIEITHRAESME (&)

(Continued)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (Continued) (a) BIIIEHITES (7&)
There were no other emoluments payable to the FERNTEENBIIERNITEE 2
independent non-executive directors during the year HhEm (2021 4 - ) -
(2021: Nil).
(b) Executive directors and the chief executive (b) HITEERFTETHRAE
Pension
scheme
Salaries and  Discretionary contributions Total
Fees allowances bonuses iB{AZ€ remuneration
g  HERER B 1ETEAT SHEIH® [ gk
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TET TET TAT TET TET
2022
Executive director and the chief executive
WTEERFETBAER
Ng Koon Keung, Ricky* 25338 * 38 552 - 15 605
Executive directors: H{TEE
Wong Chi Fai &8 150 - - - 150
Mok Fung Lin, lvy B8 150 1,276 105 60 1,591
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa 35 &% 150 = = = 150
488 1,828 105 75 2,496
2021
Executive director and the chief executive:
BTEERIETHAE:
Ng Koon Keung, Ricky 2583 150 2,063 175 60 2,448
Executive directors: $fTEE :
Wong Chi Fai #7518 150 - - - 150
Mok Fung Lin, lvy 2B 150 1,207 102 59 1,518
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa o8& 150 - - - 150
600 3,270 277 119 4,266
*  Ceased directorship on 1 July 2021 ¥ R 2021 F7 A1 BHEERESEE
There was no arrangement under which a director or FR MEEENETETHRAE
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any RIETALZEERESREZRETL
remuneration during the year. AT B & -
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RAF5ERaRMEE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

9.

Five Highest Paid Employees

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included one director (2021: two directors), details
of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining
four (2021. three) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are
as follows:

9. hEmeHESR

FR AERRERSFEEBE—
ZEER (2021 F - MBEF ) H
SHBHN LTS EBRMIE
(2021 =4 ) WIFEARBEERENX
FEBITBRABZEREHFEENEN
Pl =2

2022 2021

HK$°000 HK$°000

TFHET FHET

Salaries and allowances ¥4 K¢ 285 3,441 2,369
Discretionary bonuses EYISTEAL 228 172
Pension scheme contributions Rk &5 BIHLR 95 86
3,764 2,627

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within
the following bands is as follows:

MerETIEREANIFESAIF
EFRTBABZESFHEEAR
LU

Number of employees

EE AR
2022 2021
Nil to HK$1,000,000 &% 1,000,000 #&JT 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 35T % 1,500,000 7T 1 1
4 3

During the year, no emolument was paid or payable by
the Group to the non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for the loss
of office (2021: Nil).

FR - ARENERAFEZNFER
TTBRABZ &S HES I EN
EAME > ERESIMAREERR
MAREE R 2R BER S E
(20214 - #&) -
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RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

10. Income Tax 10. T8
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of EBNER DR ERETEBEE
16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits EETERBURFZ M E 16.5% (2021
arising in Hong Kong during the year. F 1 16.5%) fEHEME -

Current — Hong Kong ElHA — &

2022

HK$°000
FET

2021

HK$°000
FET

Charge for the year FFRZ H 1,324 3,889
Overprovision in prior years B F EB2ER1E (234) -
Deferred (note 21) ZE4E (&t 21) 586 (1,063)
Total tax charge for the year ZFE AR IE L 4858 1,676 2,826
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit BREBEERE (NARNMAKEEK
before tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate (statutory EARKREMNBATFTEREREERZ A
tax rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company and the EfRE) stEEBRBRFENERN 2 B
majority of the Group’s operating subsidiaries are IR HRAERERHETE 2K
domiciled) to the tax charge at the Group’s effective tax IEXHEEWNT

rate is as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TExT

Profit before tax BR%: & F 5,818 19,652
Tax charge at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate of 16.5% 960 3,243
BREBRERZK 16.5% stEZFHIEX H
Adjustment in respect of current tax of previous periods (234) -
BT AR BN HA R TE S
Income not subject to tax LT Z WA (75) (1,331)
Expenses not deductible for tax RN A5 S 165 433
Others HAth 860 481
Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax rate 1,676 2,826

BASEBERERAE ZRIESH
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RAF5ERaRMEE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

Dividend

Proposed final - HK0.50 cent (2021: HK0.63 cent) per ordinary share
EERE - SRIEEA 0.50 L (2021 4 : 0.63 (L)

11.

]

A

iz
“

S

2022 2021
HK$°000

HK$°000
FET FET
4,000 5,040

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Ordinary

Equity Holders of the Parent

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent of HK$4,142,000 (2021:
HK$16,826,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 800,000,000 (2021: 800,000,000) in

issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share

is based on:

Earnings 2%

12. &

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent used in the

basic and diluted earnings per share calculation
AEEREANEERATASAR L BRERES ABGERT

REERKRBRESAFTAQT KRR
REREKRRAFRE CHERSAE

5 o

BREXRBANIREEANG AT LB
I RERS BEE AB(EEF) 4,142,000 7T
(2021 £ : 16,826,000 %It ) MER
B 31T 48 A N £ £5 24 800,000,000
f% (2021 £:800,000,000 &) =H& -

AREFENREZE 2022F K 20214E3 8
S1HIEFETEEBEESFER
BERTEEK -

TR EAEERERANBERA
B

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TERT

4,142 16,826

Shares %%

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year
used in the basic and diluted earnings per share calculation

SAEERERNNESRANMACEANERITEBRINEFHE

Number of shares
KR E

2022

800,000,000 800,000,000
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RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

13. Property, Plant and Equipment 13. Y% - RERZE

Furniture,
fixtures and
Leasehold equipment Motor
improvements 7 RE vehicles Total

HEMRERE Rxfi AE et

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FEL FEL FET FET

31 March 2022 2022 £3 B 31 H

At 31 March 2021 and at 1 April 2021:
R2021E3 831 HN2021E481H

Cost B & 62,055 5,529 2,397 69,981
Accumulated depreciation Z:HrE (57,816) (4,067) (1,829) (63,712)
Net carrying amount BREEE 4,239 1,462 568 6,269
At 1 April 2021, net of accumulated depreciation 4,239 1,462 568 6,269
R2021F 4R 18 IREHTE
Additions /A& 10,036 478 - 10,514
Depreciation provided during the year S RITE#EE (6,228) (630) (179) (7,037)
At 31 March 2022, net of accumulated depreciation 8,047 1,310 389 9,746

#2022 F 3 F 31 B HRREHTE

At 31 March 2022: 12 2022 3 3310 :

Cost B 68,989 6,215 2,397 77,601
Accumulated depreciation £zT1E (60,942) (4,905) (2,008) (67,855)
Net carrying amount BREFE 8,047 1,310 389 9,746
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31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

13. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Leasehold
improvements

HEMREEE

HK$°000
TiErn

31 March 2021 2021 £3F 31 H
At 1 April 2020: 72 202054 A 18 ¢

13. Y5 ~ BB Rk i (#8)

Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment Motor
7 RE vehicles Total
&R RE #st
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TAET TET TET

Cost A& 75,625 13,982 2,198 91,805
Accumulated depreciation £zt & (58,810) (12,660) (1,992) (73,462)
Net carrying amount BREFE 16,815 1,322 206 18,343
At 1 April 2020, net of accumulated depreciation 16,815 1,322 206 18,343
R20205 4 A 18 MREFHE
Additions /R & 2,451 748 485 3,684
Disposal/write-off & /#sh (133) (38) - (171)
Depreciation provided during the year FERNITEREE (14,894) (570) (123) (15,587)
At 31 March 2021, net of accumulated depreciation 4,239 1,462 568 6,269
R2021E3 A 310 NKRENE
At 31 March 2021: R 2021 £ 3 B 318 :
Cost B A& 62,055 5,529 2,397 69,981
Accumulated depreciation 278 (57,816) (4,067) (1,829) (63,712)
Net carrying amount BRESE 4,239 1,462 568 6,269
14. Leases 14. fHE
The Group as a lessee AEBERABEA

The Group has lease contracts for certain of its office
properties, retail stores, warehouses and equipment
used in its operations. Leases of properties and
equipment generally have lease terms of 1 to 5 years.

AEBREERNAESEZETHAY
X ZTEE BRELERE - MEAR
BeHMBER—2RF -
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31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

14. Leases (Continued) 14. HE (#&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBERABEA (/)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) IERESE
The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use FANARNEEFREEEECERE
assets and the movements during the year are as NEEEYMT
follows:

Properties and

equipment

L E Y B

HK$’000

FET

As at 1 April 2020 7?2 2020 4 A 1 H 47,943
Additions RE 29,146
Transfer to sublease {E#F &7 (388)
Lease modification HEE5] (171)
Depreciation charge & H (40,754)
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 )R 2021 &3 B 31 HMX 2021 E 4 A 1 H 35,776
Additions A™E 61,158
Transfer to sublease E#Z &R (3,803)
Lease modification FHE &3] 17,829
Depreciation charge #T&3 (39,733)
As at 31 March 2022 j* 2022 4 3 H 31 H 71,227

Ulferts International Limited B{LEIFFERAR)
nnual Report
118 Annual Report 2021/2022 4§



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

+ =
RIFsERaRpIEE
31 March 2022 #ZF20226-3H31H EFE
14. Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

14. & (&)

REEERFAMBA (F)

(b) HEER|®
FAHEEEZREELZSH
HanF

2022

HK$°000
TET

2021

HK$°000
FHET

Carrying amount at 1 April 7 4 A 1 BERAEE 36,973 52,447
New leases ¥ & 60,476 29,146
Lease modification fHE &5 17,821 (171)
Accretion of interest recognised during the year 1,535 1,377
FRERHIF SIE M
Payments I3k (40,401) (45,826)
Carrying amount at 31 March 7 3 B 31 HEREE 76,404 36,973
Analysed into: T4
Current portion jiRBEB5 40,334 25,289
Non-current portion JERENER 2 36,070 11,684
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed HEAEZRHHE 2RI R

in note 29 to the financial statements.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
leases are as follows:

EEM—JDI 29 ?EZE% °

(c) REDEAZHEHEERET!
nE

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$°000
TH&T FHET
Interest on lease liabilities FHE & &R E 1,535 1,377
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {FREEETER H 39,733 40,754
Expense relating to short-term leases 5,706 4,818
(included in selling and distribution expenses)
BEEEERS: (BEEENRDHAX)
Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease 203 732
liabilities (included in selling and distribution expense)
Rt AFFEREAE (FFAEEMADHERX) < AIEHEKIEA
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 18R 2 4258 47,177 47,681
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31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

14. Leases (Continued) 14. & (#)
KEEERABA (/5)

(d) HEREM RN RKMN

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note

120

24(c) to the financial statements.

(e) Extension options

The Group has several lease contracts that include
extension options. These options are negotiated by
management to provide flexibility in managing the
leased-asset portfolio and they are aligned with the
Group’s business needs. Set out below are the
undiscounted potential future rental payments
relating to periods following the exercise date of
extension options that are not included in the lease
terms:

2022

Extension options expected not to be exercised
TRHREIT Lz R EER

5t 24(c) #EE -

(e) HEHEFREE

AEBEEETRESEHREER
MEEGHN  ZFESZEHERE
BEMUBEEEHEEEMAS
WERAEENEBB LB - T
NEYEEREZETEARR
SARIMEBIRY R AR IR B R KRS

I3 (NEEEHEERRA)

RV ()
within
five years

RFEARZM
HK$’000
TET
16,552

Payable
after

five years
FFEZMT

HK$°000
FET

Total
st
HK$’000
FET
16,552

2021

Extension options expected not to be exercised

TAMREIT R AR ER

EVEL ()
within
five years

hFRRM

HK$°000
TET
66,563

Payable
after
five years

hE®BZMT
HK$°000
FET
9,004

Total
#Et
HK$’000
FET
75,567
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31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

14. Leases (Continued)

14. & (&)

The Group as a lessor ANEEEELEHEA
The Group subleases certain car parks under finance NEBREBERMEKRLSHELEESAE
lease arrangements, with the lease negotiated for a term FEEE > mERPAE=FE -
of three years.
At 31 March 2022, the undiscounted lease payments MNo022F 3831 H AEEEEM
receivable by the Group in future periods under non- PAARGERERE NN AR E
cancellable finance leases with its tenants are as follows: WHREBLIBHSMZAT -
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#T FHET
Within one year —F R 1,290 390
After one year but within two years —F#&{BmMER 660 -
1,950 390

I5. Inventories

145 O

Goods held for sale FEE R

15. 78

2022

HK$°000
TET
57,833

2021
HK$°000
FET
47,654

16. Trade Receivables

16. & 5 B URIR

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

TF#T TFET

Trade receivables & 5 EWFIIE 3,805 3,375
Impairment Jg{& (280) (114)
3,525 3,261
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31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

16. Trade Receivables (Continued)

16. B S FEUWIFRIE (#&)

122

The Group’s retail sales are usually paid in cash or by
major credit/debit cards, with the settlement from the
corresponding banks or other financial institutions
normally within 7 to 30 days. The Group’s trading terms
with its wholesale and project customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in
advance and/or upon delivery is normally required. The
credit period for these customers is generally one to two
months, extending up to six months for major project
customers, or based on terms agreed by the relevant
parties as set out in the respective agreements. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables and overdue balances are
reviewed by senior management. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its
trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables of the Group
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

AEBCTEHGBEURESZNN
DEZERF /RPN &
RFPTHEMSHEBETEN 7 E
BOHAKEE AEEEHELBRF X
HEREFPZESGHBRETERUEET
NER  EFEF —RBER T ARZE
IR/ IXENFTARNEE - ZER
FrE&EH—KAE—EMER - A0
REIZMAEEERF  RRZLEREAX
18 B sk A B 5 IR IR & 1 i P 8 1
R - REBADREEEZEHERE
B2 EWRIE » THEREEEER
BPER - REBLERELE ZEU
FIRGEHFEEMER RNEMER
RItHEN - BSRBGRIAR/RARETE -

RBEPR > AEEE B BBEIAR
BEARLNBRBREBRREZKRED
ran T

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

FH&T FHET

Within 1 month —@B A 2,341 2,799
1 to 3 months —Z=1{H 1,072 460
Over 3 months =@ AL £ 112 2
3,525 3,261

Included in the Group’s trade receivables was an amount
due from a member of the Emperor Group of
approximately HK$10,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
HK$66,000).
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RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

16. Trade Receivables (Continued) 16. B S FEUNFRIE (78)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of B EWHIEREEREEEEE
trade receivables are as follows: R

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

At beginning of year &4 114 152
Impairment losses, net (note 7) JB{EEE » '$28 (MizE 7) 166 (38)
At end of year K 280 114
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting NBRE B HI IR B B # B AT R
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit BoOH LGt ETRHEEEE - BiE
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due RIVENRZERE D ETDHEMm
for groupings of various customer segments. The WMEMNBEEE - ZETE RN SRE
calculation reflects information that is available at the HEAR B EBEETEMH - BREEK
reporting date about past events, current conditions and RS TER (s ) HER -

forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk TXEHY(EEEEEEAEEAETS
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a SEWSRIEEENEERKRIER
provision matrix:
As at 31 March 2022 N 2022F 38 31H
Past due
aiEA
Less than 1to 3 Over
Current 1 month months 3 months
EHy 2R —ERA —FE=@ER =@ERAMLE
Expected credit loss rate 6.01% 11.24% 20.00% - 7.36%
TAHEEBEX
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) 3,014 676 115 - 3,805
BEREE (THT)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) 181 76 23 - 280

BMEEERR (THT)
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31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

16. Trade Receivables (Continued) 16. B S EERIE (48 )
As at 31 March 2021 2021 £3 31 H
Past due
peup:
Less than 1to3 Over
Current 1 month months 3 months
BN PR —@EAB —FE=EB Z=@EAMNL
Expected credit loss rate 2.29% 8.33% 14.81% - 3.38%
TREEEEBX
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) 2,796 552 27 - 3,375
HiRmE (F%7T)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) 64 46 4 - 114

EHEEBRE (THT)

17. Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables 17. {1318 & & HbEYFRIE

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Prepayments 813 5k18 594 807
Deposits and other receivables* & & b EUFRIE * 24,736 20,908
25,330 21,715
Less: Non-current portion 3 : JERENIE D (10,454) (3,598)
Current portion R EEEH 14,876 18,117
* Included in the Group’s deposits and other receivables were * 2022 3 A 31 H EWETRE
amounts due from certain members of the Emperor Group of B 2 AR X IE A 2,361,000 7 I
approximately HK$2,361,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021: (2021 £ : 2,519,000 T ) sFAARE
HK$2,519,000) which are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and Hize REMEWFIE - BREER %
repayable on demand. BRBRERER -
None of the financial assets included in the above 2022 % 2021 % 3 A 31 Hat AL
balances was either past due or impaired as at 31 March AL B N 2 S B B B T 4 280 HA R SRR
2022 and 2021. The financial assets included in the B - st A Lalisith o £l & E T Hf
above balances related to deposits and other WRHE N IE I L A EA T IBE IR S
receivables for which there was no recent history of NEMEKZIEERE - o[04y
default and past due amounts. Their recoverability was KRAEEEANEERTIE G AR
assessed with reference to the credit status of the 2022 } 2021 £ 3 A 31 HWTEHE
debtors, and the expected credit loss as at 31 March EEEREEREAR /N -
2022 and 2021 was considered by management to be
minimal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

18. Trade and Bills Payables

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

18. BB EMRAREMER

RBEBE > ZHEARERENS
FRBE AN ERAFNT

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$°000

TH&T FHET

Within 1 month — B8 & 7,169 7,924
1 to 3 months —Z=1ARHR 2,452 205
Over 3 months =@ AL & 781 686
10,402 8,815

The trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing
and are normally settled on terms of 60 to 120 days.

The Group’s trade and bills payables include amounts
denominated in the following foreign currencies:

BoRNSREBEAEFEZERAEANTER
— %7K 60 HZE 120 HAAS -

AEEESENRRAREBENRERRE
IR S SMNEEHEZ 5IR -

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FET

United States dollar (“US$") =7t (" &7t ) 726 331
Euro (“EUR”) 5T (" BRIT J) 8,054 7,186
8,780 7,517
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAF5ERaRMEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

19. Other Payables and Accruals

19. HibETFRIBEREETER

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#&ET FHExT

Other payables and accruals HEfth fE{t 2k 18 K fE =12 (a) 16,805 14,074
Contract liabilities K& & (b) 21,303 24,126
38,108 38,200

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Included in the Group’s other payables and accruals was an
amount due to a member of the Emperor Group of
approximately HK$8,071,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
HK$6,273,000), which is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
repayable on demand. Except for the above, other payables
are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of one
month.

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

Consideration received from customers in advance

AEFRE

et

(a)

(b)

31 March
2022
2022 fF

3A31H

HK$°000
TFET

N2022F 3 A 31 HENHEEEERKE
NTFRIEA 8,071,000 BT (2021 4
6,273,000 /& et AR B HAE TR
BENEFER - 2SR EAEIRH 2
BERBRERER - lREaESN  Hi
EAZEARE  FHHRAE—EAR -

BRREBZFHBRIAT

31 March
2021
2021 £
3H31H

HK$°000
FEx

1 April
2020
2020 &
48 1H

HK$°000
FET

Sale of goods 7 85 & 20,443 22,901 19,243
Sale of gift vouchers 13544 & 860 1,225 70
Total contract liabilities &%) & (54248 21,303 24,126 19,313

Contract liabilities include consideration received in advance
of the delivery of goods and for the sale of gift vouchers. The
increase in contract liabilities as at 31 March 2021 was mainly
due to the increase in short-term advances received from
customers in relation to the sales of goods at the end of the
year. The decrease in contract liabilities as at 31 March 2022
was mainly due to the decrease in short-term advances
received from customers in relation to the sales of goods at
the end of the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

20. Provisions

Pursuant to the terms of the relevant tenancy
agreements, the Group, as the lessee of certain
properties under operating leases, has the obligations to
reinstate its leased properties to their original state or to
a condition as specified in the respective tenancy
agreements at the cost of the Group at the end/upon the
termination of the relevant lease terms.

20. i

REBBHEWEGRS  AKEER
REMERTETHRERZABARE
BHERAER IR BEREEE
HEHANXZERRXESEHE R
TR E iR BERBEARERAE -

Provisions for
reinstatement costs

& B R A i
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$°000
TH&T THET
At beginning of year f£#]] 9,558 8,240
Additional provisions 89N 1,639 2,451
Amounts utilised during the year FRE BB £%8 (344) (1,133)
Decrease in estimated provisions it 5 4> (15) -
At 31 March % 3 A 31 H 10,838 9,558
Less: Non-current portion & : FJEFREIEESD (5,694) (3,733)
Current portion B85 5,144 5,825

The provisions for reinstatement costs were determined
based on certain assumptions and estimates made by
the directors of the Company with reference to past
experience and available information. The assumptions
and estimates are reviewed, and revised where
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

BEXABRBNREAARDESRSE
BELR LA RERMER 2R LM
SAMEE - ZFRIEEFHEDRE

18 B B R R A B e (Zn@E A )
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

21. Deferred Tax Assets 21. [ BEERMIBEE
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year EIERIBEENERN ST -

are as follows:

Depreciation in

excess of

related

depreciation

allowance

BBEEME

Bis2ihe

HK$°000

FET

At 1 April 2020 74 2020 4 B 1 H 4,834

Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during the year st A R1B# ~ IELERLIE 10 1,063

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 }2 20214 3 B 31 HMX 2021F 48 1 H 5,897

Deferred tax charged to profit or loss during the year & A8 R kR 2 ELL RIS 10 (586)

At 31 March 2022 72 2022 &£ 3 A 31 H 5,311
22. Share Capital 22. g4
Shares 2V

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$°000
TET FET

Issued and fully paid shares: BT MBS ERHD

800,000,000 (2021: 800,000,000) ordinary shares 110,337 110,337
800,000,000 (2021 4F : 800,000,000 ) Ax&E@A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

23. Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 8 January 2018.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are
summarised as follows:

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

To enable the Group to attract, retain and motivate
talented eligible participants to strive for future
developments and expansion of the Group.

(b) Eligibility

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme
include any director, including any executive or
independent non-executive director, any employee of
any member of the Group, any trustee of a trust
whose beneficiaries or objects include any employee
or business associate of the Group, any adviser or
consultant to the Group, any provider of goods and/
or services to the Group, or any other person who
the board of directors of the Company ("Board")
considers, in its sole discretion, has contributed or
may contribute to the Group.

(c) Maximum number of shares available for issue

(i) total number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme as at 8 January 2018
(i.e. the date of passing the resolution for
adoption of the Share Option Scheme) and 28
June 2022 (i.e. the date of this report):
80,000,000 shares.

(i) percentage of the issued shares of the Company
that it represents as at 28 June 2022: 10%.

(d) Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant
under the Share Option Scheme

(i) in aggregate not to exceed 1% of the shares in
issue in any 12-month period unless approved
by the shareholders; and

(ii) options granted to substantial shareholders or
independent non-executive directors or their
respective associates in any 12-month period
exceeding 0.1% of the shares in issue and with
a value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be
approved by the shareholders.

23. BERR1EETE)

AANTR 2018 F 1 A 8 HERAN—18
IR (T ERRERTE L) -

BRERT B 2 T ZEABAAT ¢

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

BBRR TR 2B/

REREERKS] ~ BB LHUE
BB BERBEBLFRAE
SEZARRBRNER °

&g
BRENECGERZEERRE
AEEEMREARZEMNES
(BREMRITHEILIFATE
F) EAEE EHRAXZHH
KEEAEEEMRENFZEH
BANGEENEMETEA A5
EEMEMANERAA  AEBE
178 KSR i BB R A
NAEFE ((EFT)) 28D
BFRRUAEEEERMNAIES
EHERCEMEMAL -

AT #1725 LREA

(i 2018F 188 H (EN&E
BENERES R CRER
HER) K 2022 4F 6 H 28 H
(BNRERBH) REERK
REFTEI AT RITAR D B E
80,000,000 B ©

(i) N 202246 A 28 HIHEAAN
AERITRAzZE AL
10%

RIBBRIEEITEREEKS
HETERERS FIR

(i) FRIFERERILE  SRIEE
12 8 A A E R AF
BEERITRDZ 1% K

(i REMI2EABEAMRE
BERENEIIIEAITESH
FESEBCHBHBEARECE
& BERBAERITRMOZ
0.1% REE®EIE 5,000,000
B IT AR EHE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFRER IR 5T

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

23. Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(e) Period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option

At any time from the date of grant of the option to
such a date determined by the Board but in any
event not exceeding 10 years from the date of grant.

(f) Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

No minimum period unless otherwise determined by
the Board.

(g) (i) Price payable on application or acceptance of
the option: HK$1.00;

(i) The period within which payments or calls must
or may be made: Within 28 days from the date of
grant; and

(iii) Period within which loans for such purposes of
the payments or calls must be repaid: Not
applicable.

(h) Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price is determined by the Board and
will not be less than the higher of (a) the Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of grant; and (b) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for
the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant.

(i) The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

Approximately 5.5 years (expiring on 7 January
2028)

No share option has been granted under the Share
Option Scheme since the adoption date of the Share
Option Scheme.
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(e)

)

(9)

(h)

(i)

1TIERB B AT I B 10 2 HABR

BERIERENPEEEESE
EZBBB B TMERE  HER
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BT 10 4 o

BRETEISAFFZREY
PR

RFEFERTEE  RRITE
RIGHMR

(i) FAESENERERATARK
AEIRE : 1.00 BT

(i) WAZASK R BEAY SR S AE SR AT HS
B BRHBAHES 28
AN

(i) FEI RN BA A RABRAE
SEZEMR - ANEA -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAF5ERaRMEE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

24. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash

Flows

(a) Major non-cash transactions

(i)

(i)

During the year, additional provisions for
reinstatement costs in respect of certain leased
properties of the Group amounting to approximately
HK$1,639,000 (2021: HK$2,451,000) were recognised
and these amounts were recognised as part of
the cost of related property, plant and equipment
of the Group and reflected as additions to
leasehold improvements of the Group during the
year.

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
HK$60,476,000 (2021: HK$29,146,000) and
HK$60,476,000 (2021: HK$29,146,000),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for
leased properties.

24. IFREHERERMEE

(a) EEIFHERS

)

(i)

FR RAEBEETHEBY
EFTE 2 BB R AR
Ak B i %9 1,639,000 # T
(2021 4 2,451,000
T BEREEREANER
EEYME - BERRERA
8D WREREY A
AEBCHEMEREER
E °

RER  REERHERYZE
G R B GEE EARE

£ 60,476,000 & 7T (2021
129,146,000 T ) &
60,476,000 # 7T (2021 £
29,146,000 #JT ) °

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEGFHEEX ZzEEZEE)
activities

2022

Lease

liabilities

HEEE

HK$’000

FET

At 1 April 2021 2 20214 B 1 H 36,973
Changes from financing cash flows Bl &I & 782 &) (40,401)
New leases #HfE 60,476
Lease modification FAEE:T 17,821
Interest expense | EFI% 1,535
At 31 March 2022 1A 2022 £ 3 B 31 H 76,404
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

24. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 24 FEHREHZ=ERMET (&)
Flows (Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) MEFEESECEBZEE (/&)
(Continued)
2021
Lease
liabilities
HEaE
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 April 2020 7 2020 4 A 1 H 52,447
Changes from financing cash flows fl &R &R EZ EE) (45,826)
New leases #iHE 29,146
Lease modification & &3 (171)
Interest expense F B 1,377
At 31 March 2021 /2 202143 B 31 H 36,973
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEZIRE KL EEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the HARSHRERCHECHRESM
statement of cash flows is as follows: HAEsEE B a0 -
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET
Within operating activities & & EB) A 5,909 5,550
Within financing activities gl&EE A 40,401 45826
46,310 51,376
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions, arrangements and
balances detailed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions
with certain members of the Emperor Group during
the year:

Sales of goods I TeHE

Interest expense on lease liabilities FHE & &2 B

Lease payments FAE 3k

Reimbursement of administrative expenses 17X 5 S22 &1+

Financial advisory fees 81 75EaRI &

Company secretarial fees AT MEE

25. BB SR 5
(a) RSB RAE MU TT AT
7~ BRPEREHRI  AEHE
REREETREEBKEAT

BLUTRS -
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
2,548 8,981
184 224
7,276 7,198
2,063 2,211
360 330
170 160

The underlying related party transactions as set out
in note (i) below mainly constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Notes:

(i) The sales of goods were on terms agreed by the relevant
parties as set out in the respective agreements.

(i) During the year, the Group had certain lease
arrangements ranging from two to three years with
certain members of the Emperor Group in connection
with the leasing of certain office properties and retail
stores. The right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as at
31 March 2022 were HK$9,717,000 (2021:
HK$1,097,000) and HK$9,948,000 (2021: HK$1,902,000),
respectively.

(iii) The reimbursement of administrative expenses was

charged with reference to the costs incurred by the

relevant party.

(iv) The financial advisory fees were charged based on terms

as set out in the respective agreement.

(v) The company secretarial fees were charged based on
terms as set out in the respective agreement.

TR () #5 z HH B B e T
RHEEBELETHRAE 14AE
FTRECHERERS -

ByEE -

(M

(i)

iii)

(iv)

(v)

AmEEDENRHAMEETTREE
b P 5 T o IR T

RAEE  AEEREEETHA
EYPERTEEFHERETHRE
BEREART Y AYME=F2
EFHRELRHE - 112022 F 3 A 31
H FRAEEELAMEEES A
9,717,000 #7,( 2021 411,097,000
57T ) & 9,948,000 #57T (2021 4
1,902,000 7T ) ©

WHZ TR T 2% ZHE T
EECHRAEN -
PTGz 1 I RE R B R &5 &
Th g RFRUER

NEAWEBDRESWEMER
PRFRULER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HAFEERIRBMAEE

31 March 2022 8(ZE 20228 3831HIEFE

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) The amount due from the immediate holding
company included in the Company’s current assets
is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the

25. FABI G35 (18)

(b) SFARRRARBEE BWE
BERARZHRIARBELRT 28

RAZERERE -

(c) AEEXTEREEABFHM

Group:
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Fees #2& 1,028 1,140
Short-term employee benefits S Hi{E & /@7 5,603 6,088
Post-employment benefits B +E 7 170 204
5,773 6,292
Total compensation paid to key management personnel 6,801 7,432

FTFEREBABCFHIMRE

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial
statements.

26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 31 March 2022, contingent liabilities not provided for
by the Group in the financial statements were as follows:

EELEBTHAEMS 2 HM
EACENEIpE R E I

26. S AEE

2022 F 3 A 31 B » KEETKRR
VERRELBH2IAEBENT -

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
In connection with bank guarantees given to a landlord in lieu of rental 2,187 1,773
deposits required under certain tenancy agreements
BRR—ZEIFELZRITER  LREETHEBZRECHSERS
In connection with a bank guarantee given to a customer in lieu of a 171 171
surety bond required under a certain project sales agreement
TR —BBEEFLHCRITER  UIRBETEEHERZRREZBORE
2,358 1,944
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 27 iERIEH 24T A

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of RERNSH T ENRERRCERE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting mE
period are as follows:

Financial assets EREE

Financial assets
at amortised cost

R ATECEMEE

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$°000
TH&T TH&T
Trade receivables & 5 EWFRIE 3,525 3,261
Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 24,736 20,908

STATANFIE « RENEMEBKRIEN SR EE
Cash and cash equivalents I & KRS ZEEY 76,804 03,688
105,065 117,857

Financial liabilities e =L

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REHMATEZEMBE

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$°000

TET FERT

Trade and bills payables & 2 4518 & ET 2% 10,402 8,815

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 14,630 12,069
SFARMENRIBNETERNE/MEE

Lease liabilities fHE& & 76,404 36,973

101,436 57,857
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RAF5ERaRMEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

28.

29.

FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts
of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
reasonably approximated to their fair values.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The
following methods and assumption were used to estimate
the fair values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade
receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, trade and bills payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short-term maturities/repayable on demand of
these instruments or the effect of discounting is not
material.

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables had been calculated and assessed mainly
by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities, as
appropriate. The changes in fair value as a result of the
Group’s own non-performance risk as at 31 March 2022
and 2021 were assessed to be insignificant.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as trade receivables, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, trade and bills payables and financial
liabilities included in other payables, accruals and other
financial liabilities, which mainly arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAF5ERaRMEE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures primarily arise from purchases by the Group
and certain monetary liabilities of the Group
denominated in EUR and USS$, being currencies other
than the functional currency. For the year ended 31
March 2022, certain purchases of the Group were
denominated in EUR, which is different from the
functional currencies of the respective operating units.
The directors of the Company do not expect any
significant movements in the US$/HK$ exchange rate as
the HK$ is pegged to the US$ within a narrow band.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible
change in the EUR exchange rate, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax
(due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and
liabilities).

2022

If HK$ weakens against EUR 487t X EUTEZ B

If HK$ strengthens against EUR {43 7T 5B T FHHE
2021

If HK$ weakens against EUR (#7870 BB ITE B

If HK$ strengthens against EUR {4377 5 BT HE

29.

MBREEZEBERBUR (48)

4HEE LBz

AEEBAZRZESRR - ZFR
BEEREAREEFELH KRB LKRE
BB T RETEcETEEEE
(BNThEE B IS B ) - REE
2022 3 A 31 HILFE » AEEHE
TrRETHEBUMITEHE LA
REBMHEEBHR - KARE
ETEHETRETERE RS EEM
BEARS  RABTHEETTEE 2
ENNEESERLE -

TRETRBEHREFMEEMEE
REREZERT @ AEERBLAD
FWRTERTEER A2
(REREERAETATEET)
SR -

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)

EUR exchange in profit
rate before tax

BR T ER BRIRBIER
1, () i, (R )
% HK$’000

T#T

5 (403)

(5) 403

5 (359)

(5) 359
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 20. IR SEEERKE ()

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk

The Group trades on credit terms primarily with
recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the
Group’s general policy that customers who wish to trade
on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which are mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 March 2022

12-month
ECLs
+_&EAR

EERE

AEBERERTHEERIZE=
HETEEEE - AEBECBERR
MBERBRENTEEEECEFYARE
BEERERR © LI BUGRIER
BRLBRFESEALETERZ  MA
SEEHCEREBRARK -

B K % R FARPEER

TEREHINNIA 31 HRBEAEHEE
BERENEEERRAZNRKE
SRk (RIFEFMFHALERAR
BHMAESEMER  TRETER
REBHER) REREERDHE - AT
EINSBASHEENEREE -

72022 F3 H31H

HEHEE
2

Lifetime ECLs
EHFRIEERE
Simplified

approach
EERE
HK$°000
FET
3,805

Stage 1
Rk

Stage 2 Stage 3
EEE E=PREE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

T#T T#T T#IT

Trade receivables*® 2 5 B FRIE * - = =

Total
FEEn
HK$’000
FET
3,805

Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables
STATENFIR ~ #2E MEMEKGRIERN
TREE
— Normal** —IE& **

24,736 = = = 24,736

Cash and cash equivalents
RENREEEY

— Not yet past due — K] 76,804 - - - 76,804

101,540 = = 3,805 105,345
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 March 2021

29. B EEEERERBUR (&)

EERE (&)
RAEERFEREER (#E)
R 202143 8 31H

12-month
ECLs
+Z{EA
FEHIEE Lifetime ECLs
B8 EHIFIERRE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E—lEE EPEE E=PEE B h = et
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FiExT FiET Fi#T T FiEx
Trade receivables* & ZEWFIE * - - - 3,375 3,375
Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables
FEATENFIE » RS LEMBRGRIER
TRIEE
— Normal** —1E & ** 20,908 - - - 20,908
Cash and cash equivalents
REeNREFEY
- Not yet past due — R H 93,688 - - - 93,688
114,596 - - 3,375 117,971
* For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified * WAL B E ZEWEIEE B8 EE

approach for impairment, further detailed information is

disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements.

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in *ox
prepayments, deposits and other receivables is considered to
be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain adequate funds to
meet commitments associated with its financial liabilities.
Cash flows of the Group are closely monitored by senior
management on an ongoing basis, considering the
maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities and financial

assets, and projected cash flows from operations.

TE o E— T HER Y BREMEE 16

SEATANTUR » S KEMBKRE
MEENFEBEERAHRRER
TEE . YEMEEHBETREHEE
BRVEDRLIREERREEIEM -

REBEE R

AEEEERFRECES LM R
HeMEBERRIAE AEESH
EHEETRAREcHEEHNEHNE
EZERBERLAGEXHE AR E
ME  BFECEEETYERRE

==
JLEE °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #&ZE 2022438315 1EFE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 29. BiF R EIE B ERER (&)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) mENE RS (#F)

AEERGERRCSHMEBEERE
SIRARITRA R B RAOT -

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the

140

contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

31 March 2022 2022 &£ 3 H 31 H

On demand

REX

HK$’000
TET

Less than
1 year
PR—E

HK$’000
TET

1 to 5 years
—ERF
HK$’000

THET

Total
HEt
HK$’000
FET

Trade and bills payables - 10,402 - 10,402
B HENFIENENRE
Financial liabilities included in other 8,071 6,559 - 14,630
payables and accruals
SFAEMEMNRKIELEFERANSREE
Lease liabilities HHE& & = 41,744 36,682 78,426
8,071 58,705 36,682 103,458

31 March 2021 202143 A 31 H

On demand
BEX

HK$’000
TET

Less than
1 year
LR—E

HK$’000
FET

1 to 5 years
—ERF

HK$’000
FET

Total
#Et
HK$’000
T

Trade and bills payables - 8,815 - 8,815
BEENFRIBLENRE
Financial liabilities included in other 6,273 5,796 - 12,069
payables and accruals
FEAHMENRIBELEFERNES/MEE
Lease liabilities fAE & & - 25,915 11,863 37,778
6,273 40,526 11,863 58,662
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATE R EE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities amounting to approximately HK$97,000,000, of
which HK$13,941,000 was utilised as at 31 March 2022.
As at 31 March 2021, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities amounting to approximately HK$97,000,000, of
which an aggregate amount of HK$15,725,000 was
utilised as at 31 March 2021.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021.

29.

MBREEZEBERBUR (48)

RBESREE(/F)

20224 38 31 KEEZIET
A& B EEA B 97,000,000 T 0 H
RR2022F3A31THEHAY
13,941,000 37T ° B2 2021 4 3 B 31
H REEBZRITHERZLTENR
97,000,000 #&JT » HA R 2021 £ 3
A 31 HEEFI#2%8 15,725,000 87T °

BEAREE

AEBEAEE I ZERRERA
SEAERLEERFERERNE
B WHFRRECEREE LT
EXBNEZERSKRREE -

AEERE LB < &1 LHE
EEZRRISHEEEREBIF
HAEE - AR ABREARERE &
SEUREABRKNTIRECKE R
BERTREIBITHRG - REE
2022 F N 2021 F 3 B 31 HIE&F
E AEEEEBEARACER  BERY
BErRlEHRES -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSERaRMIEE

31 March 2022 #F 2022438310 IEEE

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF  30. A2 5 ZBi784t R
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of REREBR BB ANANT I EIRREZ
the Company at the end of the reporting period is as BRNTF :
follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TERT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS JEREN& E
Investments in subsidiaries IRH B AT 2 HE 6,065 6,065

CURRENT ASSETS MBIEE

Due from subsidiaries FEU M E A R FIE 50,331 40,718
Due from the immediate holding company FEW & #E 2 /A T I8 3 3
Other receivables ELfth FEUERTE 56 -
Cash and cash equivalents & NIREEEY 60,030 59,811
Total current assets BN & EHEE 110,420 100,532

CURRENT LIABILITIES m&& &

Other payables and accruals EAthfE{S FIE N EEHE B 78 585
NET CURRENT ASSETS AE&&EEE 110,342 99,947
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #&ERAEB AE 116,407 106,012
Net assets EEFE 116,407 106,012
EQUITY #3%
Share capital B4 110,337 110,337
Retained profits/(accumulated losses) (note) {R A, ( ZEtE1E ) (K ) 6,070 (4,325)
Total equity HEz 42 %8 116,407 106,012
Wong Chi Fai Mok Fung Lin, Ivy
BiGIE EpBE
Director Director
EBE BE

Ulferts International Limited B{LEIFFERAR)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAF5ERaRMEE

31 March 2022 #;F 2022438310 IFEE

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (continued)

Note:

A summary of the movements in the Company’s retained profits/

(accumulated losses) is as follows:

30. XA F) 2 FBART IR (#8)

ByEE -

RARZRBEF,(REHER) BEEIA
T

Retained profits/
(accumulated
losses)

REBF,

(RETEE)

HK$’000
FERT

At 31 March 2020 7~ 2020 £ 3 B 31 H (4,252)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FFRNE1E N 2 HEI1E4E%E (73)
At 31 March 2021 and at 1 April 2021 722021 & 3 8 31 HAk 2021 &4 81 H (4,325)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year & R A & 2 M o5 A8 28 15,435
Final 2021 dividend 2021 fERHARG 2 (5,040)
At 31 March 2022 p2 2022 43 B 31 H 6,070

31. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the Board on 28 June 2022.

31. HUERIFEERSR

MBREREN2022F 6 H 28 HESE
FeMEREERE -
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hEFRBHME

The following table summarises the results, assets and
liabilities of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2018,
2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022:

TERBIAEENEE 2018 4 ~ 2019
2020 4 ~ 2021 R 2022 ££ 3 B 31
HItFEC¥EE - EENEE

For the year ended 31 March
BE3H 31 HLFE

2018 2019 2020 2022
—B-N\FE EB-hE ZTEH -z
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TH&T TET THET THET FHET
Results &

Revenue YA 258,553 242,959 218,853 234,504 225,457
Profit/(loss) before tax BgFiEI A ( E1E) 12,546 (4,621) (13,851) 19,652 5,818
Income tax credit/(expense) (4,069) 643 2,223 (2,826) (1,676)

FEBiiEse, (Fx)
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent 8,477 (8,978) (11,628) 16,826 4,142

BAREE AEEEF,(EE)

2018

—2-N\EF

HK$°000
FET

As at 31 March
m3B31H

2019
—FhEF

HK$°000
FET

2020
—E—EF

—= —=

HK$’000
FET

HK$’000
FET

2022
—m——

e

HK$°000
FET

Assets and liabilities EE R & &

Total assets #EFE 176,442 174,535 199,483 214,260 250,486
Total liabilities 42 & (& (60,794) (62,865)  (100,677) (98,628)  (135,752)
Net assets B EFE 115,648 111,670 98,806 115,632 114,734
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 115,648 111,670 98,806 115,632 114,734

ISYNCIE 2PN L £

R 20204 3 A 31 HILFE » XEEBEERE
REBVEREEDZE 16 5 - Witk 8ZE
2018 F K 201944 3 A 31 HIEFEZET
EMERANAEEE 2020 £ « 2021 £
2022 F3 A 31 HILFELEER - RRAZX
EHBRERNNIRBER B ERE 17 7R
ﬂ% °

In the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group had applied
HKFRS 16. Accordingly, certain comparative information for
the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2019 may not be
comparable to the years ended 31 March 2020, 2021 and
2022 as such comparative information was prepared under
HKAS 17.
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